
City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 9/27/2019 10:44 AM  

 

AGENDA 

CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION 
Thursday, October 3, 2019 – 7:00 PM 

 Chairperson TJ Welch 

 Commissioners Courtney Christiansen 

  Ed Newman 

  

 

Mick Routh 

Peter Wilk 

   

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

B. Public Comments 

Short communications from the public concerning matters not on the Agenda.  
All speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so that their 
name may be accurately recorded in the Minutes. 

C. Commission Comments 

D. Staff Comments 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Sep 5, 2019 7:00 PM 
 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the Planning Commission to be routine 
and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on these 
items prior to the time the Planning Commission votes on the action unless members of the public or the 
Planning Commission request specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for 
separate discussion will be considered in the order listed on the Agenda. 

 
A. 523 Riverview Drive   #19-0323   APN: 035-042-05 

Coastal Development Permit to replace an existing retaining wall located within 
the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.  
Note: Request to Continue to November 21, 2019. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible 
appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Ed Bottorff 
Representative: Ed Bottorff, Filed: 07.11.2019 

 
 
 
 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – October 3, 2019 2 
 

 
B. 4025 Brommer Street   #19-0343   APN: 034-164-08 

Sign Permit for a new projecting sign, window sign, and directional sign for 
Timberworks located within the C-C (Community Commercial) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Stuart Family Trust 
Representative: Rob Stuart, Filed: 07.22.2019 

 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each item listed as a 
Public Hearing.  The following procedure is as follows:  1) Staff Presentation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) 
Planning Commission Comments; 4) Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) Planning Commission 
Discussion; and 6) Decision. 

 
A. 1850 41st Avenue   #19-0408   APN: 034-201-44 

Conditional Use Permit for a new retail cannabis business (Apothecarium), Design 
Permit for modifications to the exterior of the existing building, and Sign Permit for a 
new wall sign located within the previous H&R Block office within the C-R (Regional 
Commercial) zoning district.  
This project is not in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: C. Richard Deane and Marilyn Ardis Deane Revocable Family 
Trust 
Representative: Nielsen Studios, Filed: 08.29.2019 

 
B. 4199 Clares Street   #19-0169   APN: 034-222-05 

Tentative Parcel Map and Conditional Use Permit for a two-lot subdivision that 
includes a condominium conversion of an existing duplex, and a Design Permit for a 
new single-family residence toward the front of the property located within the RM-L 
(Residential Multifamily – Low Density) zoning district.  
This project is not in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Larry Andrews 
Representative: Larry Andrews, Filed: 04.12.2019 

 
C. 1600 49th Avenue   #19-0260   APN: 034-041-26 

Appeal of an administrative denial of a tree removal application for a tree located 
within the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Michael & Vickie Oliver 
Representative: Michael & Vickie Oliver, Filed: 05.28.2019 

 

6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

8. ADJOURNMENT 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – October 3, 2019 3 
 

 

APPEALS:  The following decisions of the Planning Commission can be appealed to the City Council 

within the (10) calendar days following the date of the Commission action:  Conditional Use Permit, 

Variance, and Coastal Permit.  The decision of the Planning Commission pertaining to an Architectural 

and Site Review Design Permit can be appealed to the City Council within the (10) working days following 

the date of the Commission action.  If the tenth day falls on a weekend or holiday, the appeal period is 

extended to the next business day. 
 

All appeals must be in writing, setting forth the nature of the action and the basis upon which the action is 

considered to be in error, and addressed to the City Council in care of the City Clerk.  An appeal must be 

accompanied by a five hundred dollar ($500) filing fee, unless the item involves a Coastal Permit that is 

appealable to the Coastal Commission, in which case there is no fee.  If you challenge a decision of the 

Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else 

raised at the public hearing described in this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered to the City 

at, or prior to, the public hearing. 
 

Notice regarding Planning Commission meetings:  The Planning Commission meets regularly on the 

1st Thursday of each month at 7 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, 

Capitola. 
 

Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The Planning Commission Agenda and complete Agenda 

Packet are available on the Internet at the City's website:  www.cityofcapitola.org.  Need more 

information?  Contact the Community Development Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 

Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Materials that are a public 

record under Government Code § 54957.5(A) and that relate to an agenda item of a regular meeting of 

the Planning Commission that are distributed to a majority of all the members of the Planning 

Commission more than 72 hours prior to that meeting shall be available for public inspection at City Hall 

located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, during normal business hours. 
 

Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with 

a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 

1990.  Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in 

the City Council Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 

due to a disability, please contact the Community Development Department at least 24 hours in advance 

of the meeting at (831) 475-7300.  In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental 

sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 

Televised Meetings:  Planning Commission meetings are cablecast "Live" on Charter Communications 

Cable TV Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed on the following Monday and Friday at 1:00 p.m. on 

Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25.  Meetings can also be viewed from the City's website:  

www.cityofcapitola.org. 

http://www.cityofcapitola.org/
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/


City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 9/6/2019 8:07 AM

DRAFT MINUTES
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 5, 2019
7 P.M. – CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Commissioners Christiansen, Newman, Routh, Wilk and Chair Welch were all present. 

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

A.  Additions and Deletions to Agenda

There were three public comment emails regarding Item 5.A available at the meeting for the public’s 
review.  

B. Public Comments – none 

C. Commission Comments – none 

D. Staff Comments – none 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

A. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Jul 18, 2019 7:00 PM

MOTION: Approve the minutes from the regular meeting of the Planning Commission on July 18, 2019. 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Mick Routh

SECONDER: Courtney Christiansen

AYES: Newman, Welch, Routh, Christiansen

RECUSED: Peter Wilk

B. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Aug 1, 2019 7:00 PM

MOTION: Approve the minutes from the regular meeting of the Planning Commission on August 1, 2019. 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]

MOVER: Mick Routh

SECONDER: Courtney Christiansen

AYES: Newman, Welch, Wilk, Routh, Christiansen 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR

A. 523 Riverview Drive #19-0323 APN: 035-042-05
Coastal Development Permit to replace an existing retaining wall located within 
the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district. 
Note: Request to Continue to October 3, 2019.

3.A

Packet Pg. 4

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 2

This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible 
appeals are exhausted through the City.
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption
Property Owner: Ed Bottorff
Representative: Ed Bottorff, Filed: 07.11.2019

MOTION: Continue to the next regular meeting of the Planning Commission on October 3, 2019.

RESULT: CONTINUED [OCTOBER 3, 2019 MEETING]

MOVER: Edward Newman, Commissioner

SECONDER: Courtney Christiansen

AYES: Newman, Welch, Wilk, Routh, Christiansen

B. 204 Fanmar Way #19-0294 APN: 035-151-11
Design Permit for first-story additions and a new roof on a nonconforming single-
family residence located within the RM-LM (Multiple-Family Low-Medium 
Density) zoning district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit.
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption
Property Owner: Eric Miller
Representative: Eric Miller, Filed: 06.19.2019

MOTION: Approve the Design Permit with the following conditions and findings. 

CONDITIONS:

1. The project approval consists of construction of 275-square-feet of additions and a new roof on 
an existing single-family residence. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 3,264-square-foot 
property is 56% (1,828 square feet). The total FAR of the project is 48% with a total of 1,564 
square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. The proposed project is approved 
as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on 
September 5, 2019, except as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission 
during the hearing.

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or modifications 
to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent with the plans 
approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and site improvements shall be
completed according to the approved plans

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in full 
on the cover sheet of the construction plans. 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall be 
printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans. All construction shall be 
done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP STRM. 

5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested and 
submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any significant changes to the 
size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission approval. 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a landscape plan shall be submitted and approved by the 
Community Development Department. The landscape plan can be produced by the property 
owner, landscape professional, or landscape architect.  Landscape plans shall reflect the 

3.A

Packet Pg. 5

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 3

Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species and details of 
any proposed (but not required) irrigation systems. 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0294 shall be 
paid in full.

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to 
assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance. 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan approval 
by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Creek Water District, 
and Central Fire Protection District. 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control plan, 
shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works. The plans shall be in compliance 
with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention and Protection.

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management plan to 
the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post Construction 
Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all standards relating to low 
impact development (LID).

12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official to 
verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan. 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by the 
contractor performing the work. No material or equipment storage may be placed in the road 
right-of-way.

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 
except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work between 
nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. §9.12.010B

15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or sidewalk shall 
be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public Works 
Department. All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk shall meet current 
Accessibility Standards.

16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 
be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. Upon evidence of 
non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant 
shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or 
shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure 
to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation.

17. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit expiration. 
Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration pursuant to 
Municipal Code section 17.81.160.

18. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant to 
others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which the 
approval was granted.

3.A

Packet Pg. 6

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 4

19. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be placed out of 
public view on non-collection days. 

FINDINGS:

A. The project, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan.
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed additions and new roof comply with the 
development standards of the RM-LM (Multiple-Family Low-Medium Density) District.  The project 
secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan

B. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have all reviewed the application for the additions and new roof.  The design of the 
home with the new roof and siding matching the existing structure will fit in nicely with the existing 
neighborhood. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.  

C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301(e) of the California    
Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code 
of Regulations.
Section 15301(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to existing structures provided that 
they addition will not result in an increase of more than 50 percent of the floor area of the 
structures before the addition. The proposed additions total 275 square feet, which is an increase 
of 21 percent.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed 
project. 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]

MOVER: Courtney Christiansen

SECONDER: Mick Routh

AYES: Newman, Welch, Routh, Christiansen

RECUSED: Peter Wilk

C. 620 Oak Drive #19-0113 APN: 035-301-06
Design Permit for first- and second-story additions to a single-family residence 
within the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal
Development Permit.
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption
Property Owner: Robert Reed
Representative: Roy Horn, Filed: 03.08.19

This item was pulled from the consent calendar and heard before Item 5.A. 

Assistant Planner Sesanto presented the staff report. 

Commissioner Routh confirmed that the privacy screen is solid, with slats in the top half. 

The applicant’s representative, Roy Horn, was present to answer questions. Michael Bertoldo, 622 
Oak, spoke of a concern that the construction crew will require parking in the neighborhood and 
block emergency vehicles from quickly accessing homes of several elderly neighbors. 

Chair Welch suggested the applicant enter in a “gentleman’s agreement” to preserve necessary 
parking and access of neighbors and emergency vehicles.  

3.A

Packet Pg. 7

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 5

Mr. Horn agreed that all workers will be as courteous as possible and noted that the applicant’s 
driveway will also be utilized first by the construction crew.  

MOTION: Approve the Design Permit with the following conditions and findings. 

CONDITIONS: 

1.   The project approval consists of 1,039-square-feet of first- and second-story additions to an 
existing single-family residence and an 18-square-foot addition to an existing nonconforming 
detached garage.  The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 3,994-square-foot property is 54% 
(2,157 square feet). The total FAR of the project is 52.8% with a total of 2,109 square feet, 
compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. The proposed project is approved as indicated 
on the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on September 5, 2019, 
except as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing.

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or modifications 
to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent with the plans 
approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and site improvements shall be 
completed according to the approved plans.

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in full 
on the cover sheet of the construction plans.

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, the applicant shall include details for a screen wall 
at least five-and-a-half-feet tall, measured from the deck floor, along the edge of the rear deck 
that faces the adjacent property. The site plan and landscape plan shall include additional trees 
along the property line along 618 Oak Drive to protect the privacy of the adjacent property. 

5. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall be 
printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans. All construction shall be 
done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP STRM.

6. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested and 
submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any significant changes to the 
size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission approval. 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, a landscape plan shall be submitted and approved by the 
Community Development Department. The landscape plan can be produced by the property 
owner, landscape professional, or landscape architect. Landscape plans shall reflect the Planning 
Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species and details of any 
proposed (but not required) irrigation systems. 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0113 shall be 
paid in full.

9. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to 
assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance.

10. Prior to issuance of building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan approval by 
the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Creek Water District, 
and Central Fire Protection District.

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control plan, 
shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works. The plans shall be in compliance 
with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention and Protection.

3.A

Packet Pg. 8

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 6

12. Prior to issuance of building permit, downspouts shall be shown with the direction of flow 
indicated.  Pre- and post-project calculations for pervious surfaces and a management plan for 
winter construction shall be provided. 

13. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management plan to 
the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post Construction 
Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all standards relating to low 
impact development (LID).

14. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official to 
verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.

15. Prior to any work in the City road right-of-way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by the 
contractor performing the work. No material or equipment storage may be placed in the road 
right-of-way.

16. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 
except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work between 
nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. §9.12.010B

17. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or sidewalk shall
be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public Works 
Department. All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk shall meet current 
Accessibility Standards.

18. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 
be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. Upon evidence of 
non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant 
shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or 
shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure 
to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation.

19. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit expiration. 
Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration pursuant to 
Municipal Code section 17.81.160.

20. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant to 
others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which the 
approval was granted.

21. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be placed out of 
public view on non-collection days.

22. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing overhead 
utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.  

FINDINGS: 

A. The project, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan.
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have all reviewed the project.  The proposed additions comply with the development 
standards of the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District.  The project secures the purpose 
of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan.

3.A

Packet Pg. 9

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 7

B. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have all reviewed the project.  The proposed additions to the existing single-family 
residence and detached garage, with shiplap siding on the first floor, battened panel siding on the 
second floor, a raised-seam metal roof, and creative articulation on the second story, will fit nicely 
with the existing neighborhood.  The project will maintain the character and integrity of the 
neighborhood.   

C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15332 of the California Environmental 
Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of 
Regulations.
Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts projects characterized as in-fill development 
when: the project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all applicable 
general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning designation and regulations; the proposed 
development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more than five acres substantially 
surrounded by urban uses; the project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or 
threatened species;  the project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, 
air quality, or water quality; and the site can be adequately served by all required utilities and 
public services. The proposed project is consistent with the in-fill development exemption and no 
adverse environmental impacts were discovered by Planning Staff during review of the proposed 
project.

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]

MOVER: Edward Newman

SECONDER: Courtney Christiansen

AYES: Newman, Welch, Wilk, Routh, Christiansen

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS

A. 115 San Jose Avenue - Pizzeria - Alcohol  #19-0332  APN: 035-221-19
Amendment to a Conditional Use Permit for alcohol sales for La Bufala, a take-
out pizza restaurant located within the Mercantile, in the CV (Central Village) 
zoning district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit.
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption
Property Owner: Peter Dwares
Representative: Sandro Costanza, Filed: 07.11.2019

Commissioner Newman recused himself due to owning property within 500 feet of the project.  

Assistant Planner Sesanto presented the staff report. 

Commissioner Routh asked if the alcohol sales permit will allow for on-sale and off-sale alcohol 
sales. Planning staff explained that this type of permit is what most restaurants have and allows for 
the re-corking and taking home of any wine bottles that were initially purchased for consumption on 
restaurant premises. Commissioner Routh commented on other businesses in the Village with 
alcohol licenses. Director Herlihy pointed out that a previous to-go restaurant in this location had the 
same type of alcohol sales permit.

3.A

Packet Pg. 10

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 8

The Mercantile Building’s property manager, Josh, was present to answer questions and explained 
that those purchasing alcohol would have to consume it on site, something that would be monitored 
closely by the restaurant’s staff.

MOTION: Approve the Amendment to the Conditional Use Permit to allow for alcohol sales, with the 
following conditions and findings. 

CONDITIONS:

1. The project approval consists of the addition of on-site alcohol sales and consumption to an 
existing Conditional Use Permit for a 1,001-square-foot take-out restaurant (Pizzeria La Bufala) 
with six seats or less at 115 San Jose Avenue (Suite 111). No other modifications to the use or 
size of the restaurant are proposed within the application.

2. A copy of the approved Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) Permit must be filed 
with the Community Development Department prior to initiating on-site beer and wine sales.

3. The applicant shall receive permission from ABC prior to September 16, 2021. The conditional 
use permit will expire in the case where the conditionally permitted use has not been exercised 
within two years after the date of granting thereof. Any interruption or cessation beyond the 
control of the property owner shall be deemed to have been “used” when actual substantial, 
continuous activity has taken place upon the land pursuant to the permit. Applications for 
extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to permit expiration, pursuant to Municipal 
Code section 17.81.160. 

4. Compliance with all conditions of approval and the ABC license requirements and conditions shall 
be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. Upon evidence of 
non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant 
shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or 
shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure 
to remedy a non-compliance issue in a timely manner may result in permit revocation.

Original Conditions of Approval for Permit #19-0140:

5. Prior to issuance of a building permit, business license, and/or Certificate of Occupancy for the to-
go restaurant, the site shall have 41 on-site parking spaces. A parking plan must be submitted to 
the City for approval by the Public Works Director and Community Development Director.

6. There shall be no amplified audible entertainment inside the business that can be audible outside 
of the business.

7. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or modifications 
to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent with the plans 
approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and site improvements shall be 
completed according to the approved plans.

8. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in full 
on the cover sheet of the construction plans. 

9. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall be 
printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans. All construction shall be 
done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP STRM. 

10. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested and 
submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any significant changes to the 
size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission approval. 

3.A

Packet Pg. 11

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 9

11. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0140 shall be 
paid in full.

12. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by the 
contractor performing the work. No material or equipment storage may be placed in the road 
right-of-way.

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by the 
contractor performing the work. No material or equipment storage may be placed in the road 
right-of-way.

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 
except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work between 
nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. §9.12.010B

15. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 
be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. Upon evidence of 
non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant 
shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or 
shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure 
to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation.

16. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit expiration. 
Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration pursuant to 
Municipal Code section 17.81.160.

17. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant to 
others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which the 
approval was granted.

18. Prior to issuance of a business license and/or building permit, applicant shall provide funding for a 
new off-site trash receptacle and the installation of the receptacle within the Capitola Village.  The 
type and placement of the new trash receptacle shall be determined by the Director of Public 
Works.   

19. Prior to issuance of a business license and/or building permit, wheel stops shall be installed in the 
three parking spaces in front of the west entrance to the Capitola Mercantile (spaces 28, 12, and 
40 in the approved plan set).  

FINDINGS:

A. The project, subject to the conditions imposed, secure the purposes of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan.
Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project.  The
proposed to-go restaurant with a Type 41 alcohol license complies with the development 
standards of the C-V District.  The project secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General 
Plan, and Local Coastal Plan.

B. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.
Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the application for 
the project for the sale of alcohol for a previously approved to-go restaurant.  The use will fit with 
the surrounding commercial uses.  The project will maintain the character and integrity of the 
neighborhood.

3.A

Packet Pg. 12

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 10

C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California Environmental 
Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of 
Regulations.
Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the operation, repair, maintenance, permitting, 
leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or private structures, facilities, mechanical 
equipment, or topographical features, involving negligible or no expansion of use beyond that 
existing at the time of the lead agency’s determination.  This project involves the sale of beer and 
wine for on-site consumption in a previously approved to-go restaurant within the C-V (Central 
Village) zoning district.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the 
proposed project.

RESULT: APPROVED [3 TO 1]

MOVER: Peter Wilk, Commissioner

SECONDER: Courtney Christiansen

AYES: Welch, Wilk, Christiansen

NAYS: Mick Routh

RECUSED: Ed Newman

B. 1440 41st Avenue #19-0369 APN: 034-111-50
Conditional Use Permit to operate and expand Hot Elevation Studios, a fitness 
studio located within the C-C (Community Commercial) zoning district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit.
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption
Property Owner: Four Starr Properties
Representative: Fuse Architects, Filed: 08.05.2019

Commissioner Christiansen recused herself as she is an employee of Fuse Architects.  

Associate Planner Orbach presented the staff report and emphasized that the parking study 
condition as written covers the entire shopping center, Four Star Center, not just this specific 
business. 

Commissioner Wilk asked if the building’s owner was aware of the additional parking condition, and 
Associate Planner Orbach confirmed that the owner agreed with the proposed approach. 

Commissioner Newman asked about the parking study requirements and expressed belief that any 
future use of the currently empty building, formerly Outdoor World, will require a parking study before 
gaining approval for a Conditional Use Permit.   

The project’s representative, Nia Louis, was available to answer questions.  

Commissioner Wilk acknowledged a neighboring business owner’s concerns that fitness studio 
clients and shoppers are utilizing their parking lot to go to fitness classes and shop within Four Star 
Center and identified this “overflow” parking situation as a problem. 

Commissioner Newman announced that he is a client of Hot Elevation Studios and that he is in a 
business relationship with the gentleman who expressed concern about overflow parking. He also 
expressed confusion regarding the Kimley Horn parking studies. 

Chair Welch asked if directional signs are included in this shopping center’s master sign plan. 
Director Herlihy explained that applications for directional signs are placed under administrative 
review rather than going before the Planning Commission.  

Commissioner Newman suggested an added condition that Hot Elevation Studios agree to monitor 
and ensure that their customers are not parking in neighboring lots. Commissioner Routh countered 

3.A

Packet Pg. 13

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 11

that customers of all businesses in Four Star Center may be utilizing the neighboring lot, so the 
entire center should have this additional condition. Commissioner Wilk pointed out that signs 
indicating “office use parking only” are already present in the neighboring lot and questioned if there 
was any further appropriate action for the Commission to take. 

Director Herlihy added that if noncompliance with a conditional use permit’s condition ever becomes 
an issue, the conditional use permit can be brought before the Planning Commission for review and 
possible modifications. 

Commissioner Newman suggested a mild condition asking the business owner to assert reasonable 
efforts to ensure their customers do not illegally park in any neighboring lot. 

MOTION: Approve the Conditional Use Permit and Coastal Development Permit with the following 
conditions and findings.

CONDITIONS:

1. The project approval consists of the operation and expansion of a fitness studio (Hot Elevation 
Studios) within Suites E, G, and H of an existing commercial space (Four Star Center) located at 
1440 41st Avenue.  The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed 
and approved by the Planning Commission on September 5, 2019, except as modified through 
conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing.

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or modifications 
to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent with the plans 
approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and site improvements shall be 
completed according to the approved plans

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in full 
on the cover sheet of the construction plans. 

4. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested and
submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any significant changes to the 
size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission approval. 

5. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0369 shall be 
paid in full.

6. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan approval 
by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Creek Water District, 
and Central Fire Protection District. 

7. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 
except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work between 
nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. §9.12.010B

8. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 
be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. Upon evidence of 
non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant 
shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or 
shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure 
to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation.

9. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit expiration. 

3.A

Packet Pg. 14

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 12

Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration pursuant to 
Municipal Code section 17.81.160.

10. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant to 
others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which the 
approval was granted.

11. Parking for 1420, 1430, and 1440 41st Avenue is provided in a shared parking lot. To ensure 
adequate parking for all tenants at 1420, 1430, and 1440 41st Avenue is provided on site, a 
parking study shall be required for any future tenants or tenant expansions that cause the 
cumulative total parking demand for the businesses on the site to exceed the 111 parking spaces 
provided. The owner has indicated future plans to increase onsite parking with eight additional 
spaces, which would increase the total onsite parking to 119 spaces. The threshold for a parking 
study shall increase to a cumulative total parking demand greater than 119 spaces if the 
additional eight spaces are constructed.

12. Applicant shall make reasonable efforts to keep customers parking on-site.

FINDINGS:

A. The project, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan.
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have all reviewed the project. With a conditional use permit, the proposed operation 
and expansion of a fitness studio complies with the development standards of the C-C District.  
The project secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan

B. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have all reviewed the application for the operation and expansion of a fitness studio.  
The fitness studio will fit in nicely with the existing commercial center. The project will maintain 
the character and integrity of the C-C zoning district.  

C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California    Environmental 
Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of 
Regulations.
Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the operation, repair, maintenance, permitting, 
leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or private structures, facilities, mechanical 
equipment, or topographical features, involving negligible or no expansion of use beyond that 
existing at the time of the lead agency’s determination. This project involves the operation and 
expansion of a fitness studio within the C-C (Community Commercial) zoning district. No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 

COASTAL FINDINGS:

D. Findings Required. 
1. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific written factual findings 

supporting the conclusion that the proposed development conforms to the certified Local 
Coastal Program, including, but not limited to:
a. A statement of the individual and cumulative burdens imposed on public access and 

recreation opportunities based on applicable factors identified pursuant to subsection (D)(2) 
of this section. The type of affected public access and recreation opportunities shall be clearly 
described;

b. An analysis based on applicable factors identified in subsection (D)(2) of this section of the 
necessity for requiring public access conditions to find the project consistent with the public 
access provisions of the Coastal Act;

3.A

Packet Pg. 15

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 13

c. A description of the legitimate governmental interest furthered by any access conditioned 
required;

d. An explanation of how imposition of an access dedication requirement alleviates the access 
burdens identified.
• The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan (LCP). 

The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090(D) are as follows:

2. Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public access, 
including the type of access and character of use, the city shall evaluate and document in 
written findings the factors identified in subsections (D)(2)(a) through (e), to the extent 
applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for the conclusions and decisions of the 
city and shall be supported by substantial evidence in the record. If an access dedication 
is required as a condition of approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects 
which have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used in this 
section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in combination with 
the effects of past projects, other current projects, and probable future projects, including 
development allowed under applicable planning and zoning.
a. Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of existing and open 

public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the regional and local vicinity of 
the development. Analysis of the project’s effects upon existing public access and recreation 
opportunities. Analysis of the project’s cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the 
identified access and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and beach 
resources, and upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, intensification or 
cumulative buildout. Projection for the anticipated demand and need for increased coastal 
access and recreation opportunities for the public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s 
cumulative effects to any such projected increase. Description of the physical characteristics 
of the site and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, and 
trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance and potential of the 
site, because of its location or other characteristics, for creating, preserving or enhancing 
public access to tidelands or public recreation opportunities;
• The proposed project is located at 1440 41st Avenue. The commercial spaces are not 

located in an area with coastal access. The operation and expansion of a fitness studio 
will not have an effect on public trails or beach access.

b. Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, including beach profile, 
accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion or accretion, character and sources 
of sand, wave and sand movement, presence of shoreline protective structures, location of 
the line of mean high tide during the season when the beach is at its narrowest (generally 
during the late winter) and the proximity of that line to existing structures, and any other 
factors which substantially characterize or affect the shoreline processes at the site. 
Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline processes at the site. Identification of 
anticipated changes to shoreline processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed 
development. Description and analysis of any reasonably likely changes, attributable to the 
primary and cumulative effects of the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches 
in the vicinity of the project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and 
usability of the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the 
vicinity. Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination 
with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public to use public tidelands 
and shoreline recreation areas;
• The proposed project is located along 41st Avenue. No portion of the project is located 

along the shoreline or beach.

c. Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general public for a 
continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence of the type and character 
of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, etc., and for passive and/or active 
recreational use, etc.). Identification of any agency (or person) who has maintained and/or 
improved the area subject to historic public use and the nature of the maintenance performed 
and improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the area historically used by 

3.A

Packet Pg. 16

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 14

the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit public use of the area, including the 
success or failure of those attempts. Description of the potential for adverse impact on 
public use of the area from the proposed development (including but not limited to, creation of 
physical or psychological impediments to public use);
• There is not a history of public use on the subject lot.

d. Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the development which block or 
impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public recreation areas, or 
other public coastal resources or to see the shoreline;
• The proposed project is located on private property on 41st Avenue. The project will not 

block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public recreation 
areas, or views to the shoreline.

e. Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the development’s physical 
proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public recreation area. Analysis of the 
extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or other aspects of the development, 
individually or cumulatively, are likely to diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands 
committed to public recreation. Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, visual or 
recreational value of public use areas, and of any diminution of the quality or amount of 
recreational use of public lands which may be attributable to the individual or cumulative 
effects of the development.
• The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access and 

recreation. The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands committed 
to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual, or recreational value of public use 
areas.

3. Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that one of the 
exceptions of subsection (F)(2) applies to a development shall be supported by written 
findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the following:
a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, lateral, bluff top, etc.) 

and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to be protected, the agricultural use, 
the public safety concern, or the military facility which is the basis for the exception, as 
applicable;

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, intensity, hours, 
season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, fragile coastal resources, public 
safety, or military security, as applicable, are protected;

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same area of public 
tidelands as would be made accessible by an accessway on the subject land.
• The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings do not 

apply.

4. Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a condition 
requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or character of public 
access use must address the following factors, as applicable:
a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons supporting the 

conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the hours, seasons, or character 
of public use;
• The project is located in a commercial area without sensitive habitat areas.

b. Topographic constraints of the development site;
• The project is located on a flat lot.

c. Recreational needs of the public;
• The project does not impact the recreational needs of the public.

d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the project back 
from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development;

3.A

Packet Pg. 17

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 15

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is the mechanism 
for securing public access;

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as part of a 
management plan to regulate public use.

5. Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of appropriate legal 
documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and as, required by the certified 
land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access requirements);
• No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the proposed project.

6. Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies;

SEC. 30222
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational facilities 
designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall have priority over 
private residential, general industrial, or general commercial development, but not over 
agriculture or coastal-dependent industry.
• The project involves the operation and expansion of a fitness studio on a commercial lot of 

record.

SEC. 30223
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for such 
uses, where feasible.
• The project involves the operation and expansion of a fitness studio on a commercial lot of 

record.

c) Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed areas 
shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of attraction for 
visitors.

• The project involves the operation and expansion of a fitness studio on a commercial lot of 
record.

7. Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision of public and 
private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of transportation and/or traffic 
improvements;

• The project involves the operation and expansion of a fitness studio. The project complies 
with applicable standards and requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian access, 
alternate means of transportation, and/or traffic improvements.

8. Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the city’s 
architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted design guidelines 
and standards, and review committee recommendations;
• The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the Municipal 

Code.

9. Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, protection or 
provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from public views to and along 
Capitola’s shoreline;
• The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views. The project will 

not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline.

10. Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services;
• The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer services.

11. Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times;
• The project is located one mile from the Central Fire Protection District Capitola Station. 

Water is available at the location.

3.A

Packet Pg. 18

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 16

12. Project complies with water and energy conservation standards;

• The project is for the operation and expansion of a fitness studio. The GHG emissions for the 
project are projected at less than significant impact. All water fixtures must comply with the 
low-flow standards of the Soquel Creek Water District.

13. Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required;
• The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance.

14. Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances including 
condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances;
• The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes.

15. Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection policies;
• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established policies.

16. Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies;
• The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where Monarch 

Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented.

17. Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, stream, 
and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion;
• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable erosion 

control measures.

18. Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for projects in 
seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and project complies with 
hazard protection policies including provision of appropriate setbacks and mitigation 
measures;
• Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professionals for this project. 

Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project applicant shall comply with 
all applicable requirements of the most recent version of the California Building Standards
Code.

19. All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in the project 
design;
• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with geological, 

flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the project design.

20. Project complies with shoreline structure policies;
• The proposed project is not located along a shoreline.

21. The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the zoning 
district in which the project is located;
• This use is an allowed use consistent with the C-C (Community Commercial) zoning district.

22. Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, and 
project review procedures; and
• The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements, and 

project development review and development procedures.

23. Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows:
a. The village area preferential parking program areas and conditions as established in 

Resolution No. 2596 and no permit parking of any kind shall be allowed on Capitola Avenue.
b. The neighborhood preferential parking program areas are as established in Resolution 

Numbers 2433 and 2510.
c. The village area preferential parking program shall be limited to three hundred fifty permits.

3.A

Packet Pg. 19

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 17

d. Neighborhood permit areas are only in force when the shuttle bus is operating except that:
i. The Fanmar area (Resolution No. 2436) program may operate year-round, twenty-four 

hours a day on weekends,
ii. The Burlingame, Cliff Avenue/Grand Avenue area (Resolution No. 2435) have year-

round, twenty-four hour per day “no public parking.”
e. Except as specifically allowed under the village parking program, no preferential residential 

parking may be allowed in the Cliff Drive parking areas.
f. Six Depot Hill twenty-four minute “Vista” parking spaces (Resolution No. 2510) shall be

provided as corrected in Exhibit A attached to the ordinance codified in this section and found 
on file in the office of the city clerk.

g. A limit of fifty permits for the Pacific Cove parking lot may be issued to village permit holders 
and transient occupancy permit holders.

h. No additional development in the village that intensifies use and requires additional parking 
shall be permitted. Changes in use that do not result in additional parking demand can be 
allowed and exceptions for onsite parking as allowed in the land use plan can be made.

• The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking permit program.

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]

MOVER: Edward Newman

SECONDER: Peter Wilk

AYES: Newman, Welch, Wilk, Routh

RECUSED: Courtney Christiansen

6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT

Director Herlihy announced that on Tuesday, August 27, the City received an official application for the 
Capitola Town Square project, the new development at the current Capitola Mall. City Staff is excited to 
move forward with a new team including a contract with JHS Planning assigning John Schwarz as project 
lead. An economic review will be completed by the contract firm Kosmot and Associates and the contract 
for an environmental review will be voted on at City Council next week. Director Herlihy explained that the 
goal is to have the project come before the Planning Commission in October or November for a 
conceptual review, which may require an additional, special, meeting. Proposed dates will be 
communicated as soon as possible. An RFP for a design reviewer is also pending.  

On August 22 City Council reviewed the conceptual review for the proposed Village Hotel and gave 
similar feedback to what Commissioners provided earlier in the year. The City Manager and Community 
Development Director will meet with developer, Swenson Builders, to check in on the project’s status. 

7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS

Commissioner Wilk confirmed with Director Herlihy that the City will have more information from Swenson 
Builders soon regarding their proposed hotel.  

Chair Welch acknowledged that all current members of the Planning Commission qualifications are 
compliant with City Code and that a commissioner residency requirement will be discussed by City 
Council within the next month. He expressed support for all current Planning Commissioners and noted 
that each member brings special qualifications to the Commission.

8. ADJOURNMENT

The meeting was adjourned at 7:54p.m. to the next regular Planning Commission meeting on October 3, 
2019. 

3.A

Packet Pg. 20

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – September 5, 2019 18

_____________________________________
Chloé Woodmansee, Clerk to the Commission

3.A

Packet Pg. 21

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
S

ep
 5

, 2
01

9 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: OCTOBER 3, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: 523 Riverview Drive  #19-0323  APN: 035-042-05 
 

Coastal Development Permit to replace an existing retaining wall 
located within the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.  
Note: Request to Continue to November 21, 2019. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal 
Development Permit which is appealable to the California Coastal 
Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Ed Bottorff 
Representative: Ed Bottorff, Filed: 07.11.2019 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission continue application #19-0323 to the 
November 21, 2019, Planning Commission meeting. 
 
 
 
Prepared By: Matt Orbach 
  Associate Planner 

4.A

Packet Pg. 22



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: OCTOBER 3, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: 4025 Brommer Street  #19-0343  APN: 034-164-08 
 

Sign Permit for a new projecting sign, window sign, and directional 
sign for Timberworks located within the C-C (Community Commercial) 
zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Stuart Family Trust 
Representative: Rob Stuart, Filed: 07.22.2019 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing a new projecting sign, window sign, and directional sign for 
Timberworks located at 4025 Brommer Street in the CC (Community Commercial) zoning 
district.  A new projecting sign requires Planning Commission approval. 
 
HISTORY 
On March 2, 2017, the Planning Commission approved a design permit and conditional use 
permit for a three-story mixed-use building with a variance to decrease minimum floor height 
and parking dimension standards. On August 7, 2019, the owner passed the final building 
inspection and was granted occupancy.  
 
DISCUSSION 
The mixed use building at 4025 Brommer Street is occupied by the Timberworks construction 
office on the first floor with residential above.  The applicant is proposing new signs to better 
identify the commercial use and the location of parking in the back.  
 
Projecting Sign 
The application includes installing a diamond-shaped projecting sign to be suspended over the 
front entryway.  The sign includes the Timberworks logo and is made of wood with raised 
lettering and a thin metal border.  The sign area is approximately one square foot with a letter 
height of six inches.  No illumination is proposed. 
 
Pursuant to Section 17.57.070(C), projecting signs are required to comply with the following 
underlined standards:   
 

4.B

Packet Pg. 23



 
 

 

1. No such sign shall exceed sixteen square feet in area, except in residential zoning districts a 
projecting sign shall not exceed five square feet in area. 
Staff Analysis: The sign area is one square foot. 
 
2. No such sign shall extend above the top level of the wall upon which it is situated. 
Staff Analysis: The sign is suspended from the first floor. 
 
3. No such sign shall project more than two feet over any public property or pedestrian and 
vehicular easement. 
Staff Analysis: The sign hangs over private property above the front entrance. 
 
4. Each business shall be permitted one projecting sign. 
Staff Analysis: The application includes three signs for the property including one projecting 
sign, one window sign, and one directional sign.  There are no other signs on the property. 
 
5. An encroachment permit must be obtained for all signs projecting over a public right-of-way. 
Staff Analysis: The sign does not encroach over a public right-of-way.   
 
6. Any such sign that is suspended or projects over any public walkway or walk area shall have 
an overhead clearance of at least eight feet. 
Staff analysis: The sign is located over the entryway which will be accessed by the public.  The 
clearance from the ground to the bottom of the sign is eight feet.  This complies with the 
minimum clearance of eight feet.  
 
7. No such sign shall list the products to be sold or the services to be provided.  
Staff Analysis: The sign includes the Timberworks logo. 
 
In conclusion, the proposed projecting sign complies with all the required sign standards. 
 
Window Sign 
The applicant is also proposing a window sign within the front door window.  Pursuant to 
17.57.020.B.3, the area of a window sign shall be less than twenty percent of the total area of 
the window.  The total area of the window is twelve-and-a-half square feet.  The sign area is 
approximately two-and-a-half square feet in area and occupies twenty percent of the front door 
window.  The sign is a white decal with company logo and business information.   
 
Directional Sign 
The applicant is proposing a direction sign to be suspended over the driveway facing Brommer 
Street.  The sign has two sections; the company logo above and the traffic guidance hanging 
below. For identification purposes the logo section utilizes the Timberworks logo with materials 
and dimensions matching that of the front projecting sign. The lower section indicates “Parking 
in rear” for vehicle traffic.  
 
Pursuant to Section 17.57.030(E), on-site directional signs are exempt as long as they guide 
traffic and parking on private property but bear no advertising matter and have a display area of 
less than six square feet.  The total sign area is less than one-and-a-half square feet.  Although 
the code specifies no advertising, the owner is requesting allowance of the logo to identify that 
the parking in the rear of the property is for Timberworks customers. 
 
CEQA 
This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California Environmental Quality 
Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations.  The 

4.B

Packet Pg. 24



 
 

 

project involves new signage for a commercial use on a mixed-use property in the CC 
(Community Commercial) zoning district.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered 
during project review by either the Planning Department Staff or the Planning Commission.  
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve the sign permit for application #19-
0343 based on the following findings and conditions of approval. 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of a one-square-foot projecting sign, a window sign that is 

less than twenty percent of the window area, and directional signage at 4025 Brommer 
Street.  The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and 
approved by the Planning Commission on October 3, 2019, except as modified through 
conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 

 
2. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.  
 

3. A building permit shall be secured for the signs authorized by this permit within 60 days. 
Final building plans shall be consistent with the plans approved by the Planning 
Commission.  

 
4. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0343 

shall be paid in full. 
 

5. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except as otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays.  Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official §9.12.010B 
 

6. Compliance with all conditions of approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of 
the Community Development Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with the 
conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant shall 
remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director 
or shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission 
consideration.  Failure to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in 
permit revocation. 
 

7. This permit shall expire two years from the date of issuance.  The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.  Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

8. This planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval.  The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 

 

4.B

Packet Pg. 25



 
 

 

FINDINGS 
1. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of 

the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 
Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have 
reviewed the sign application and determined that the proposed signs will secure the 
purpose of the zoning ordinance and general plan. 
 

2. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have 
reviewed the signs and determined that the signs maintain the character and integrity of 
the Community Commercial zoning district. 
 

3. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15311(a) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations 
The signs are proposed on an existing mixed-use building in the Community Commercial 
zoning district.  The signs are for commercial purposes.  No adverse environmental 
impacts were discovered during project review by either the Planning Department Staff 
or the Planning Commission. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 4025 Brommer Street - Plan Set 
 
Prepared By: Sean Sesanto 

4.B

Packet Pg. 26



4.B.1

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

02
5 

B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

40
25

 B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t)



4.B.1

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

02
5 

B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

40
25

 B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t)



4.B.1

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

02
5 

B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

40
25

 B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t)



4.B.1

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

02
5 

B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

40
25

 B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t)



4.B.1

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

02
5 

B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

40
25

 B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t)



4.B.1

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

02
5 

B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

40
25

 B
ro

m
m

er
 S

tr
ee

t)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: OCTOBER 3, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: 1850 41st Avenue  #19-0408  APN: 034-201-44 
 

Conditional Use Permit for a new retail cannabis business 
(Apothecarium), Design Permit for modifications to the exterior of the 
existing building, and Sign Permit for a new wall sign located within the 
previous H&R Block office within the C-R (Regional Commercial) zoning 
district.  
This project is not in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal 
Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: C. Richard Deane and Marilyn Ardis Deane Revocable 
Family Trust 
Representative: Nielsen Studios, Filed: 08.29.2019 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to convert 3,945 square feet of professional office space into a retail 
cannabis establishment within the C-R (Regional Commercial) zoning district.  The project 
includes a design permit, sign permit, and conditional use permit (CUP) for the change of use 
and modifications to the exterior of the structure.   
 
BACKGROUND 
The Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application on September 11, 2019, 
and provided the applicant with the following direction: 
 
Public Works, Kailash Mozumder: recommended that the applicant provide a trash enclosure to 
limit access to the refuse area and rebuild the driveway access from 41st Avenue to prevent 
vehicles from bottoming out.   
 
Building Official, Robin Woodman: had no comments. 
 
Local Architect, Frank Phanton: provided positive comments about the new roof design and 
lighting. 
 
City Planner, Matt Orbach: informed the applicant that the City of Capitola had recently received 
an application for redevelopment of the Capitola Mall, which includes realigning the mall 
entrance off 41st Avenue.  The property at 1850 41st Avenue currently aligns with the mall 
entrance and traffic signal.  The proposed modification to the mall entrance will have future 

5.A

Packet Pg. 33



 
 

 

impacts on access to 1850 41st Avenue.  Planner Orbach also requested additional information 
on the proposed sign. 
 
Following the Architecture and Site Review Committee meeting, the applicant submitted 
updated plans showing the location and dimensions of the new wall sign. 
 
ZONING SUMMARY 
The following table outlines the zoning code requirements for development in the C-R Zoning 
District.   
 

C-R (Regional Commercial) Zoning District 
 

Development Standards 

Building Height 

C-R Regulation Existing Proposed 

40 ft. 24 ft. 9 in. 24 ft. 9 in. 

Floor Area Ratio 

Lot Size 16,710 sq. ft. 

C-R Regulation Existing Proposed 

1.5 (25,065 sq. ft.) 0.32 (5,398 sq. ft.) 0.32 (5,398 sq. ft.) 

Setbacks 

 C-R Regulation Existing Proposed 

Front and 
Street Side 
Setbacks 

Buildings shall be set back from 
the front and street side 
property line so that: 
1. The building is at least fifteen 
feet from the curb or street 
edge;  
2. Building placement allows for 
a minimum ten-foot sidewalk 
along the property frontage. 
See Figure 17.24-2. 

Front: 20 ft. 9 in.  
Street Side: N/A 

Front: 20 ft. 9 in.   
Street Side: N/A 

Rear 0 ft. unless adjacent to a 
residential zoning district (see 

Section 17.24.030(E)) 

35 ft. 35 ft. 

Interior Side 0 ft. unless adjacent to a 
residential zoning district (see 

Section 17.24.030(E)) 

3 ft. 6 in. north side 
19 ft. south side 

3 ft. 6 in. north side 
19 ft. south side 

 
DISCUSSION 
The existing structure at 1850 41st Avenue is one story along 41st Avenue and two stories at the 
rear of the building.  The lot is surrounded by one- and two-story commercial structures and an 
electric substation and is across the street from the main entrance to the Capitola Mall. 
 
Retail Cannabis License 
Capitola Municipal Code (CMC) Chapter 5.36 titled Retail Cannabis Licenses contains the 
licensing requirements for retail cannabis businesses.  Chapter 5.36 sets the maximum number 
of retail licenses at two and outlines specific instructions for application preparation and filing, 
the competitive merit-based license review conducted by the Capitola Police Department (CPD), 
the selection process, and other requirements and limitations.  The CPD review includes 
consideration of the applicant’s background, experience in retail sales and legal cannabis sales, 

5.A

Packet Pg. 34



 
 

 

residency, site plan, operations plan, and security plan.  All retail cannabis licenses are required 
to be renewed annually for full compliance.  A condition has been added to the conditional use 
permit requiring full compliance with the retail cannabis license.    
 
On May 28, 2019, the proposed retail cannabis business, The Apothecarium, was one of the 
two businesses selected as a potential retail cannabis license holders.  Potential retail cannabis 
license holders have six months to obtain a conditional use permit from the Planning 
Commission for a specific location and appropriate state licenses.  If the potential retail 
cannabis license holder is unable to obtain either of those requirements, the selection will expire 
immediately, and the retail cannabis license will be made available and publicly noticed.  Once 
the business has an approved conditional use permit and appropriate state licenses for retail 
sales of cannabis, the retail cannabis license will be issued.  
 
The awarding of the two retail cannabis licenses was appealed by a third party.  The appeal was 
denied by the City Council on July 25, 2019, so the start date for the six-month timeline to attain 
a conditional use permit from the Planning Commission was changed to August 2, 2019 
(Attachment 2).  The six-month period will now end on February 2, 2020.   
 
Conditional Use Permit 
Under Capitola Municipal Code (CMC) §17.24.020(D)(1)(b), Retail Cannabis in the C-R Zoning 
District requires a conditional use permit.  In order for the Planning Commission to approve a 
conditional use permit application for a retail cannabis establishment, the project must meet the 
following standards: 
 
1. Distance from Schools and Churches. Retail cannabis establishments are not permitted 

within a path of travel of one thousand feet from any schools and churches. The path of 
travel shall be measured following the shortest path of travel along a public right-of-way from 
the property line of the proposed retail cannabis establishment parcel to the church or 
school. 
 
Staff Analysis:1850 41st Avenue is not within a path of travel of one thousand feet from any 
schools or churches.  
 

2. Distance between Retail Cannabis Establishments. A retail cannabis establishment shall not 
be located within a path of travel of five hundred feet of another retail cannabis 
establishment. Path of travel is measured from the retail establishment suite on a multi-
tenant property or the structure for a single-tenant property. 

 
Staff Analysis: 1850 41st Avenue is not within a path of travel of five hundred feet of another 
retail cannabis establishment.  

 
3. Independent Access. A retail cannabis establishment shall have an independent exterior 

entrance that is not shared with any other business or residence. 
 

Staff Analysis: 1850 41st Avenue has an independent exterior entrance that is not shared 
with any other business or residence. 
 

4. Signs. Notwithstanding other sections of the code for signs, a retail cannabis establishment 
shall be limited to one exterior building sign per business location to identify the business as 
a retail cannabis establishment in compliance with the following standards: 
A. Sign may include only the name of business and one green cross. 

5.A

Packet Pg. 35



 
 

 

B. Sign area maximum of twenty square feet, or one square foot per linear frontage of the 
business; whichever is less. 

C. Sign may not have any reference, through symbols or language, to cannabis with the 
exception of one green cross. 

D. Sign shall not be directly illuminated except during operating hours. 
E. Sign shall otherwise be subject to planning commission review through a sign permit 

application in accordance with Chapter 17.132. 
 
Staff Analysis: The proposed sign at 1850 41st Avenue complies with the standards above.  
See analysis in sign permit section below for details.   

 
The proposed retail cannabis business meets all of the required standards. 
 
Design Permit 
The applicant is proposing to remodel the front portion of the building, removing the existing roof 
and covered walkway around the west and south elevations and adding a parapet wall and a 
covered entryway.  The parapet wall extends to a height of sixteen feet two inches from existing 
grade.  The proposed remodel will include new horizontal siding on the one-story front section of 
the building with awnings above the windows.  The shingles on the roof and paint on the stucco 
siding of the two-story rear portion of the building will be upgraded to compliment the color and 
style of the remodeled front portion of the building.   
 
Parking 
With the addition of the retail cannabis business, the uses occupying the 5,398-square-foot 
structure are required to have 16 on-site parking spaces.  There are 20 parking spaces provided 
on the site.  
 

Suite # Use Floor Area Parking Requirement Required Spaces 

1 Retail Cannabis 3,945 sq. ft. 1 space per 300 feet 13 

2 Browmorphosis 490 sq. ft. 1 space per 300 feet 1.6 

3 Noland Builders, Inc. 524 sq. ft. 1 space per 300 feet 1.7 

Total Required Spaces 16.3 

 
Sign Permit 
The applicant is proposing one 14-square-foot wall sign with the words “THE APOTHECARIUM” 
on the building frontage facing 41st Avenue (Attachment 3).  The sign is eight feet by one foot 
nine inches and is made up of powder coated metal lettering and linework pin mounted on the 
wall.  The maximum letter height is nine-and-one-half inches.  The sign will be illuminated by a 
down-directed light above. 
 
CEQA 
This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California Environmental Quality 
Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations. The 
proposed project involves a retail use occupying an existing commercial space previously 
occupied by a professional office.  The project includes no additional floor area and the use has 
the same parking requirement (1 parking space per 300 square feet of floor area) as the 
previous tenant.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during project review by 
Planning Staff or the Planning Commission. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

5.A

Packet Pg. 36



 
 

 

Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve application #19-0408, subject to the 
following conditions and based upon the following findings: 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of a conditional use permit for a new retail cannabis 

business (The Apothecarium), design permit for modifications to the exterior of the 
existing building, and a sign permit for a new wall sign.  The proposed project is 
approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning 
Commission on October 3, 2019, except as modified through conditions imposed by the 
Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans. 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans. All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.  

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.  
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a landscape plan shall be submitted and approved 
by the Community Development Department. The landscape plan can be produced by 
the property owner, landscape professional, or landscape architect.  Landscape plans 
shall reflect the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location 
of species and details of any proposed (but not required) irrigation systems.  

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0408 

shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Santa Cruz 
Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.  
 

9. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works. The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 37



 
 

 

11. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

12. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work. No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

13. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

14. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department. All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or 
sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 

 
15. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 

approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director and Chief of Police. Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of 
approval of the Conditional Use permit and/or the retail cannabis license, or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director and Chief of Police. Failure to 
remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in conditional use permit 
revocation and retail cannabis license revocation. 
 

16. This permit shall expire on February 2, 2020, if the applicant has not obtained the 
appropriate state license(s) for retail sales of cannabis as required under Capitola 
Municipal Code §5.36.030(A)(7)(e).   The applicant shall have an approved building 
permit and construction underway within 24 months of the Conditional Use approval date 
to prevent permit expiration.  
 

17. The Cannabis License is subject to the Capitola Municipal Code Section 5.36.030(A)(9) 
License Transfer to New Owner.   
 

18. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days.  

 
FINDINGS 

A. The proposed project is consistent with the general plan, local coastal program, 
and any applicable specific plan, area plan, or other design policies and 
regulations adopted by the city council. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed conditional use 
permit for a new retail cannabis business, design permit for structural modifications, and 
sign permit for a new wall sign comply with the development standards of the C-R 
zoning district.  The project secures the purpose of the General Plan and design policies 
and regulations adopted by the City Council. 
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 38



 
 

 

B. The proposed project complies with all applicable provisions of the zoning code 
and municipal code. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for a conditional use permit for a 
new retail cannabis business, design permit for structural modifications, and sign permit 
for a new wall sign. The project complies with all applicable provisions of the zoning 
code and municipal code. 
 

C. The proposed project has been reviewed in compliance with the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 
This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California Environmental 
Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of 
Regulations. The proposed project involves a retail use occupying an existing 
commercial space previously occupied by a professional office.  The project includes no 
additional floor area and the use has the same parking requirement (1 parking space per 
300 square feet of floor area) as the previous tenant.  No adverse environmental impacts 
were discovered during project review by Planning Staff or the Planning Commission. 
 

D. The proposed development will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or 
welfare or materially injurious to the properties or improvements in the vicinity. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed conditional use 
permit for a new retail cannabis business, design permit for structural modifications, and 
sign permit for a new wall sign will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or 
welfare or materially injurious to the properties or improvements in the vicinity.  
 

E. The proposed project complies with all applicable design review criteria in Section 
17.120.070 (Design review criteria). 
The Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 
the Planning Commission have all reviewed the application. The proposed design permit 
for structural modifications complies with all applicable design review criteria in Section 
17.120.070. 
 

F. The proposed signs are consistent with the general plan, local coastal program, 
zoning code, and any applicable specific plan or area plan adopted by the city 
council. 
Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the sign 
permit application. The proposed wall sign is consistent with the general plan and zoning 
code. 
 

G. The proposed signs comply with all applicable standards in Chapter 17.80 (Signs). 
Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the sign 
permit application. The proposed wall sign complies with all applicable standards in 
Chapter 17.80 (Signs). 
 

H. The proposed sign will not adversely impact the public health, safety, or general 
welfare. 
Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the sign 
permit application. The proposed wall sign will not adversely impact the public health, 
safety, or general welfare. 
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 39



 
 

 

I. The number, size, placement, design, and material of the proposed signs are 
compatible with the architectural design of buildings on the site. 
Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the sign 
permit application. The number, size, placement, design, and material of the proposed 
wall sign are compatible with the architectural design of the buildings on the site. 

 
J. The proposed signs are restrained in character and no larger than necessary for 

adequate identification. 
Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the sign 
permit application. The proposed wall sign is restrained in character and no larger than 
necessary for adequate identification. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 1850 41st Avenue - Full Plan Set - 08.29.2019 
2. Apothecarium - CPD Post-Appeal Six Month Start Date Letter 
3. 1850 41st Avenue - Sign Details 

 
Prepared By: Matt Orbach 
  Associate Planner 

5.A

Packet Pg. 40



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

8.
29

.2
01

9 
 (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.2

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

p
o

th
ec

ar
iu

m
 -

 C
P

D
 P

o
st

-A
p

p
ea

l S
ix

 M
o

n
th

 S
ta

rt
 D

at
e 

L
et

te
r 

 (
18

50
 4

1s
t 

A
ve

n
u

e)



228-B  Fern Street  Santa Cruz  831 621 3926
1727 64th Street  Emeryville  925 324 4247     

info@nielsenarchitects.com
www.nielsenarchitects.com

Date: 9/20/19 1850 41ST AVENUEJOB NAME:

ADDRESS: 1850 41ST AVENUE
 CAPITOLA, CA 95010

A4.2 SIGN

/Nielsen Studios/Dropbox (Nielsen Studios)/Nielsen Studios Team Folder/Active Projects/2019 Projects/19-16 - APC - Apothecarium/Model/ArchiCAD/19-16 APC-CUP1.5.pln

1'-4"±

9 1/2"
MAX. LETTER

HEIGHT

1'-9"

8'-0"
(N) POWDER COATED METAL SIGN,
PIN MOUNTED ON WALL.
AREA: 14 SF

(N) LIGHT TO DIRECTLY ILLUMINATE
SIGN BELOW. B-K LIGHTING, MINI
MICRO - TWIN SIGN STAR STYLE A

R
E

LE
A

S
E

D

05-17-17
D

R
A

W
IN

G
 N

U
M

B
E

R

SU
B

-2249-00
40429 B

rickyard D
rive • M

adera, C
A

 93636 • U
S

A
559.438.5800 • FA

X
 559.438.5900 

w
w

w
.bklighting.com

 • info@
bklighting.com

B
-K

 L
IG

H
T

IN
G

PRO
JECT:

TYPE:

G
reenSource Initiative™

M
etal and packaging com

ponents are m
ade from

 recycled 
m

aterials. M
anufactured using renew

able solar energy, 
produced on site.  Returnable to m

anufacturer at end of life 
to ensure cradle-to-cradle handling.  Packaging contains 
no chlorofluorocarbons (CFC’s).  Use of this product m

ay 
qualify for GreenSource efficacy and recycling rebate(s).  
Consult w

w
w

.bklighting.com
/greensource for program

 
requirem

ents.
 M

aterials
Furnished in Copper-Free Alum

inum
 (Type 6061-T6).

Style 
‘A’ Style provides dual bend, 90° radius from

 fixture to 
stem

. 
 Body
Fully m

achined from
 solid billet.  Unibody design provides 

enclosed, w
ater-proof w

irew
ay and integral heat sink for 

m
axim

um
 com

ponent life.  Integral knuckle for m
axim

um
 

m
echanical strength. High tem

perature, silicone ‘O
’ Ring 

provides w
ater-tight seal.

Knuckle
The LO

CK™ (Locking ‘O
’ Ring Com

pression Knuckle) is 
com

prised of tw
o com

ponents.  The first is integral to the 
body and features an interior, m

achined taper. The second 
is m

achined from
 solid billet and features a second, reverse 

angle taper.  The resultant m
echanical taper-lock allow

s a 
full 180° vertical adjustm

ent w
ithout the use of serrated 

teeth, w
hich inherently lim

it aim
ing.  High tem

perature, 
silicone ‘O

’ Ring provides w
ater-tight seal and com

pressive 
resistance to m

aintain fixture position.  D
esign w

ithstands 
73 lb. static load prior to m

ovem
ent to ensure decades 

of optical alignm
ent.  Biaxial source control w

ith 360° 
horizontal rotation in addition to vertical adjustm

ent. 

Cap
Fully m

achined.  Accom
m

odates [1] lens or louver m
edia. 

Choose from
 45° cutoff (‘A’ or ‘D

’), 3/8” deep bezel w
ith 90° 

cutoff (‘B’ or ‘E’), or flush lens (‘C’) cap styles.  ‘A’ and ‘B’ caps 
include w

eep-hole for w
ater and debris drainage.  ‘D

’ and 
‘E’ caps exclude w

eep-hole and are for interior use only. 

Stem
Fully m

achined, 1” dia. w
ith internal threads for m

axim
um

 
visual appeal.  Available in configurable lengths to 48” 
m

axim
um

 overall.  

Lens
Shock resistant, tem

pered, glass lens is factory adhered 
to fixture cap and provides herm

etically sealed optical 
com

partm
ent.  Specify soft focus (#12) or rectilinear (#13) lens.

BKSSL® 
Integrated solid state system

 w
ith ‘e’ technology.   High 

pow
er, forw

ard throw
 source com

plies w
ith AN

SI C78.377 
binning requirem

ents.  Exceeds EN
ERGY STAR® lum

en 
m

aintenance requirem
ents. LM

-80 certified com
ponents.  

Integral non-dim
m

ing driver.  M
inim

um
 50,000 hour rated 

life at 70%
 of initial lum

ens (L70).  BKSSL® technology 
provides long life, significant energy reduction and 
exceptional therm

al m
anagem

ent.   

O
ptics 

O
PTIKIT™ m

odules are color-coded for easy reference: 
N

arrow
 Spot (N

SP) = Red, Spot (SP) = Green. M
edium

 Flood 
(M

FL) = Yellow
 and Asym

m
etrical (ASY) = Purple.

Installation
3-1/2” dia., m

achined canopy perm
its m

ounting to 3’’ 
octagonal junction box or 4’’ junction box w

ith m
ud 

ring.  Junction box installation m
ust be designed to hold 

full fulcrum
 w

eight of fixture (junction box and gasket 
by others).  

Rem
ote Transform

er
For 

use 
w

ith 
12VAC

rem
ote 

transform
er 

or m
agnetic transform

ers only. B-K Lighting cannot 
guarantee perform

ance w
ith third party m

anufacturers’ 
transform

ers. 

W
iring

PVC coated, 18AW
G, 150V, 60°C rated and certified to UL 

1838 standard.

H
ardw

are
Tam

per-resistant, stainless steel hardw
are.  LO

CK™ aim
ing 

screw
 and canopy m

ounting screw
s are additionally black 

oxide treated for additional corrosion resistance.

Finish
StarG

uard®, our exclusive RoH
s com

pliant, 15 stage 
chrom

ate-free 
process 

cleans 
and 

conversion 
coats 

alum
inum

 com
ponents prior to application of Class ‘A’ 

TGIC polyester pow
der coating.  

W
arranty

5 year lim
ited w

arranty. 

Certification and Listing
ITL tested to IESN

A LM
-79. UL Listed. Certified to CAN

/CSA/
AN

SI Standards. RoHs com
pliant. Suitable for indoor or 

outdoor use. Suitable for use in w
et locations. IP 66 Rated. 

M
ade in USA. 

®Energy Star is a registered tradem
ark of the United States Environm

ental Protection Agency.

SPECIFICA
TIO

N
S

M
IN

I-M
ICRO

™
TW

IN
 SIG

N
 STA

R™
 STYLE A

Specify Inches18"-48" M
axim

um
(457m

m
-1219m

m
)

11 13/16"
(299m

m
)  

ST-A
-M

M
-LED

-CA
N

O
PY

3 3/8"
(85m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

3/8" 
(10m

m
)

4 1/8"
(104m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

TO
P V

IEW

Rem
ote Transform

ers:

TR Series
U

PM
RM

™

A
ccessories (Configure separately)

A
ll dim

ensions indicated on this subm
ittal are nom

inal.  
Contact Technical Sales if you require m

ore stringent specifications.

2 3/4" O
.C.

3 1/2" D
ia

3/8"
(10m

m
)

(89m
m

)

(70m
m

)

 CA
N

O
PY D

ETA
IL

SID
E V

IEW

(70m
m

)
2 3/4"

3 7/8"
(98m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

"C" CA
P

3"
(76m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

3 3/4"
(95m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

(67m
m

)
2 5/8"

"C" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

2 7/8"
(74m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

1" (25m
m

)

(70m
m

)
2 3/4"

3 7/8"
(98m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

"C" CA
P

3"
(76m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

3 3/4"
(95m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

(67m
m

)
2 5/8"

"C" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

2 7/8"
(74m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

1" (25m
m

)

(70m
m

)
2 3/4"

3 7/8"
(98m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

"C" CA
P

3"
(76m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

3 3/4"
(95m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

(67m
m

)
2 5/8"

"C" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

2 7/8"
(74m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

1" (25m
m

) “A
/D

” CA
P

“B/E” CA
P

“C” CA
P

Specify Inches18"-48" M
axim

um
(457m

m
-1219m

m
)

11 13/16"
(299m

m
)  

ST-A
-M

M
-LED

-CA
N

O
PY

3 3/8"
(85m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

3/8" 
(10m

m
)

4 1/8"
(104m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

Specify Inches18"-48" M
axim

um
(457m

m
-1219m

m
)

11 13/16"
(299m

m
)  

ST-A
-M

M
-LED

-CA
N

O
PY

3 3/8"
(85m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

3/8" 
(10m

m
)

4 1/8"
(104m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

R
E

LE
A

S
E

D

05-17-17
D

R
A

W
IN

G
 N

U
M

B
E

R

SU
B

-2249-00
40429 B

rickyard D
rive • M

adera, C
A

 93636 • U
S

A
559.438.5800 • FA

X
 559.438.5900 

w
w

w
.bklighting.com

 • info@
bklighting.com

B
-K

 L
IG

H
T

IN
G

PRO
JECT:

TYPE:

G
reenSource Initiative™

M
etal and packaging com

ponents are m
ade from

 recycled 
m

aterials. M
anufactured using renew

able solar energy, 
produced on site.  Returnable to m

anufacturer at end of life 
to ensure cradle-to-cradle handling.  Packaging contains 
no chlorofluorocarbons (CFC’s).  Use of this product m

ay 
qualify for GreenSource efficacy and recycling rebate(s).  
Consult w

w
w

.bklighting.com
/greensource for program

 
requirem

ents.
 M

aterials
Furnished in Copper-Free Alum

inum
 (Type 6061-T6).

Style 
‘A’ Style provides dual bend, 90° radius from

 fixture to 
stem

. 
 Body
Fully m

achined from
 solid billet.  Unibody design provides 

enclosed, w
ater-proof w

irew
ay and integral heat sink for 

m
axim

um
 com

ponent life.  Integral knuckle for m
axim

um
 

m
echanical strength. High tem

perature, silicone ‘O
’ Ring 

provides w
ater-tight seal.

Knuckle
The LO

CK™ (Locking ‘O
’ Ring Com

pression Knuckle) is 
com

prised of tw
o com

ponents.  The first is integral to the 
body and features an interior, m

achined taper. The second 
is m

achined from
 solid billet and features a second, reverse 

angle taper.  The resultant m
echanical taper-lock allow

s a 
full 180° vertical adjustm

ent w
ithout the use of serrated 

teeth, w
hich inherently lim

it aim
ing.  High tem

perature, 
silicone ‘O

’ Ring provides w
ater-tight seal and com

pressive 
resistance to m

aintain fixture position.  D
esign w

ithstands 
73 lb. static load prior to m

ovem
ent to ensure decades 

of optical alignm
ent.  Biaxial source control w

ith 360° 
horizontal rotation in addition to vertical adjustm

ent. 

Cap
Fully m

achined.  Accom
m

odates [1] lens or louver m
edia. 

Choose from
 45° cutoff (‘A’ or ‘D

’), 3/8” deep bezel w
ith 90° 

cutoff (‘B’ or ‘E’), or flush lens (‘C’) cap styles.  ‘A’ and ‘B’ caps 
include w

eep-hole for w
ater and debris drainage.  ‘D

’ and 
‘E’ caps exclude w

eep-hole and are for interior use only. 

Stem
Fully m

achined, 1” dia. w
ith internal threads for m

axim
um

 
visual appeal.  Available in configurable lengths to 48” 
m

axim
um

 overall.  

Lens
Shock resistant, tem

pered, glass lens is factory adhered 
to fixture cap and provides herm

etically sealed optical 
com

partm
ent.  Specify soft focus (#12) or rectilinear (#13) lens.

BKSSL® 
Integrated solid state system

 w
ith ‘e’ technology.   High 

pow
er, forw

ard throw
 source com

plies w
ith AN

SI C78.377 
binning requirem

ents.  Exceeds EN
ERGY STAR® lum

en 
m

aintenance requirem
ents. LM

-80 certified com
ponents.  

Integral non-dim
m

ing driver.  M
inim

um
 50,000 hour rated 

life at 70%
 of initial lum

ens (L70).  BKSSL® technology 
provides long life, significant energy reduction and 
exceptional therm

al m
anagem

ent.   

O
ptics 

O
PTIKIT™ m

odules are color-coded for easy reference: 
N

arrow
 Spot (N

SP) = Red, Spot (SP) = Green. M
edium

 Flood 
(M

FL) = Yellow
 and Asym

m
etrical (ASY) = Purple.

Installation
3-1/2” dia., m

achined canopy perm
its m

ounting to 3’’ 
octagonal junction box or 4’’ junction box w

ith m
ud 

ring.  Junction box installation m
ust be designed to hold 

full fulcrum
 w

eight of fixture (junction box and gasket 
by others).  

Rem
ote Transform

er
For 

use 
w

ith 
12VAC

rem
ote 

transform
er 

or m
agnetic transform

ers only. B-K Lighting cannot 
guarantee perform

ance w
ith third party m

anufacturers’ 
transform

ers. 

W
iring

PVC coated, 18AW
G, 150V, 60°C rated and certified to UL 

1838 standard.

H
ardw

are
Tam

per-resistant, stainless steel hardw
are.  LO

CK™ aim
ing 

screw
 and canopy m

ounting screw
s are additionally black 

oxide treated for additional corrosion resistance.

Finish
StarG

uard®, our exclusive RoH
s com

pliant, 15 stage 
chrom

ate-free 
process 

cleans 
and 

conversion 
coats 

alum
inum

 com
ponents prior to application of Class ‘A’ 

TGIC polyester pow
der coating.  

W
arranty

5 year lim
ited w

arranty. 

Certification and Listing
ITL tested to IESN

A LM
-79. UL Listed. Certified to CAN

/CSA/
AN

SI Standards. RoHs com
pliant. Suitable for indoor or 

outdoor use. Suitable for use in w
et locations. IP 66 Rated. 

M
ade in USA. 

®Energy Star is a registered tradem
ark of the United States Environm

ental Protection Agency.

SPECIFICA
TIO

N
S

M
IN

I-M
ICRO

™
TW

IN
 SIG

N
 STA

R™
 STYLE A

Specify Inches18"-48" M
axim

um
(457m

m
-1219m

m
)

11 13/16"
(299m

m
)  

ST-A
-M

M
-LED

-CA
N

O
PY

3 3/8"
(85m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

3/8" 
(10m

m
)

4 1/8"
(104m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

TO
P V

IEW

Rem
ote Transform

ers:

TR Series
U

PM
RM

™

A
ccessories (Configure separately)

A
ll dim

ensions indicated on this subm
ittal are nom

inal.  
Contact Technical Sales if you require m

ore stringent specifications.

2 3/4" O
.C.

3 1/2" D
ia

3/8"
(10m

m
)

(89m
m

)

(70m
m

)

 CA
N

O
PY D

ETA
IL

SID
E V

IEW

(70m
m

)
2 3/4"

3 7/8"
(98m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

"C" CA
P

3"
(76m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

3 3/4"
(95m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

(67m
m

)
2 5/8"

"C" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

2 7/8"
(74m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

1" (25m
m

)

(70m
m

)
2 3/4"

3 7/8"
(98m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

"C" CA
P

3"
(76m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

3 3/4"
(95m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

(67m
m

)
2 5/8"

"C" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

2 7/8"
(74m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

1" (25m
m

)

(70m
m

)
2 3/4"

3 7/8"
(98m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

"C" CA
P

3"
(76m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

3 3/4"
(95m

m
)

1 1/4"
(31m

m
)

"A
/D

" CA
P

(67m
m

)
2 5/8"

"C" CA
P

"B/E" CA
P

2 7/8"
(74m

m
)

1/2"
(11m

m
)

1" (25m
m

) “A
/D

” CA
P

“B/E” CA
P

“C” CA
P

Specify Inches18"-48" M
axim

um
(457m

m
-1219m

m
)

11 13/16"
(299m

m
)  

ST-A
-M

M
-LED

-CA
N

O
PY

3 3/8"
(85m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

3/8" 
(10m

m
)

4 1/8"
(104m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

Specify Inches18"-48" M
axim

um
(457m

m
-1219m

m
)

11 13/16"
(299m

m
)  

ST-A
-M

M
-LED

-CA
N

O
PY

3 3/8"
(85m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

3/8" 
(10m

m
)

4 1/8"
(104m

m
)

1" D
ia.

(25m
m

)

SC
A

LE: 1/2"   =    1'-0"
1

D
-01 SIG

N

5.A.3

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

85
0 

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

S
ig

n
 D

et
ai

ls
  (

18
50

 4
1s

t 
A

ve
n

u
e)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: OCTOBER 3, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: 4199 Clares Street  #19-0169  APN: 034-222-05 
 

Tentative Parcel Map and Conditional Use Permit for a two-lot subdivision 
that includes a condominium conversion of an existing duplex, and a 
Design Permit for a new single-family residence toward the front of the 
property located within the RM-L (Residential Multifamily – Low Density) 
zoning district.  
This project is not in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal 
Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Larry Andrews 
Representative: Larry Andrews, Filed: 04.12.2019 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is requesting approval of a tentative parcel map and conditional use permit for a 
two-lot subdivision that includes a condominium conversion of an existing duplex, and a design 
permit for a new single-family residence toward the front of the property, located within the RM-
L (Residential Multifamily – Low Density) zoning district.   
 
BACKGROUND 
On January 25, 2018, the City Council approved a combined application for ten-unit density 
bonus application at 4199 and 4205 Clares Street.  The developer of 4199 Clares Street 
decided not to construct the project and sold the property to the current applicant.  As part of the 
2018 approval, a single-family home on the front half of the property was demolished and 
multiple trees on the two sites were removed in preparation for the new units.   
 
The applicant also has active building permits for an interior and exterior remodel of the duplex 
that includes electrical and plumbing upgrades, new fixtures and appliances, hydronic heaters, 
insulation, drywall, fireplace inserts, doors, tubs, showers, fans, garage doors, and siding.   The 
new property owner is seeking to subdivide the property into two lots, build one new single-
family home on the front lot, and convert the duplex on the rear lot into two condominiums.  
4205 Clares Street remains under the original ownership and does not plan to further develop 
the site at this time.   
 
The Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application on August 28, 2019, and 
provided the applicant with the following direction: 
 

5.B

Packet Pg. 55



 
 

 

Public Works, Kailash Mozumder: informed the applicant that the limits of the sidewalk ADA 
ramp approach to the driveway would require work within the adjacent property, which is not 
allowed without the adjacent property owner’s consent, and recommended that a depressed 
driveway approach be used.  Mr. Mozumder informed the applicant that a modified driveway 
approach with the sidewalk ADA ramp within the property lines would be required prior to 
building permit issuance.  He also emphasized that any cracked or broken curbs, gutters, or 
sidewalks must be repaired and shared the Tier 2 Stormwater conditions of approval with the 
applicant.   
 
Building Official, Robin Woodman: requested verification that there is a one-hour fire separation 
between the condominium units. 
 
Local Architect, Frank Phanton: questioned the use of heavy fascia boards on the gables of the 
single-family home and recommended using a depressed driveway approach for the shared 
driveway.  Mr. Phanton approved of the overall project design. 
 
City Planner, Matt Orbach: had no comments.  Following the meeting, he requested verification 
of preliminary approval from the water, sanitation, and fire districts for the proposed subdivision. 
 
Following the Architecture and Site Review Committee meeting, the applicant verified that there 
is a one-hour fire separation between the condominium units.  The applicant also submitted 
documentation of preliminary approval from the Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, 
Soquel Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.  Condition #12 was added to 
the conditions of approval to ensure that the driveway approach is modified prior to building 
permit issuance.  
 
DISCUSSION 
4199 Clares Street is located in the Multi-Family Low Density (RM-LM) zoning district.  The 
street has a mix of housing types including single-family homes, secondary dwelling units, and 
multi-family developments.  The proposed subdivision application will complement the existing 
land uses along the street, with a tri-plex to the east and a single-family home to the west.  The 
property is located approximately 500 feet from the 41st Avenue commercial corridor. 
 
The existing lot at 4199 Clares Street contains a duplex at the rear of the lot.  The owner is 
proposing to subdivide the one existing lot into two new lots, convert the existing duplex to a 
condominium, and construct a new single-family residence on the lot adjacent to Clares Street.   
 
Subdivision 
The application includes a tentative parcel map dividing one lot into two.  The proposal includes 
a single-family home on Lot 1 and the existing duplex on Lot 2.  Pursuant to Capitola Municipal 
Code (CMC) §17.16.030(C)(1), single-family dwellings in the RM zoning district are required to 
comply with the development standards that apply to the R-1 district.  The following table 
outlines the minimum area and dimension standards relative to the proposed development:  
 

 Lot Area Min Area per Unit Lot Width Lot Depth 

R-1 Standards   5,000 N/A 30 ft. 80 ft. 

Lot 1 Proposed 5,853 sq. ft. N/A 39 ft. 3 in. 149 ft. 2 in. 

 

RM-LM Standards n/a 4,400 sq. ft. per unit.   
8,800 sq. ft. minimum 

for 2 units 

N/A N/A 

5.B

Packet Pg. 56



 
 

 

Lot 2 Proposed 10,000 sq. ft. 8,800 sq. ft. 59 ft. 3 in. 118 ft. 6 in. 

 
The application complies with the lot design requirements from CMC Title 16 – Subdivisions, 
Chapter 16.24 – Design Standards, as follows: 
 
16.24.170 Lot design.  
 
A. The size and shape of lots shall be in conformance to any zoning regulations effective in the 
area of the proposed subdivision unless an exception is granted by the planning commission 
pursuant to subsection H of this section. 
 
Staff Analysis:  The size and shape of the two lots are in conformance with the zoning 
regulations.  Lot 1 complies with the 5,000-square-foot minimum lot size requirement of the R-1 
zone.  Within the RM-LM zone, there are no standards for minimum parcel area, width, or depth. 
There is a minimum parcel area per unit size of 4,400 square feet. Lot 2 complies with the 
4,400-square-foot minimum parcel area per unit requirement of the RM-L zone.  
 
B. The side lines of all lots, so far as possible, shall be at right angles to the street which the lot 
faces, or radial or approximately radial if the street is curved. 
 
Staff Analysis:  The side lines of all lots are at right angles to the street which the lots face. 
 
C. The Planning Commission may require that building setback lines shall be indicated by 
dotted lines on the subdivision map. 
 
Staff Analysis: Building setback lines are not currently indicated by dotted lines on the tentative 
parcel map.  The proposed structures comply with the required setbacks of the relative zone. 
 
D. No lot shall be divided by a city boundary line. 
 
Staff Analysis: The two new lots are not divided by any city boundary lines. 
 
E. Lots without twenty feet or more of frontage on a street will not be permitted. Frontage 
requirements for flag lots may be satisfied by a driveway or private road accessing a street of 
twenty feet in width or more. 
 
Staff Analysis:  Lot 1 has 39 feet of frontage on Clares Street and Lot 2 is a flag lot accessing 
Clares Street by a 20-foot-wide driveway. 
 
F. Lots other than corner lots may front on more than one street where necessitated by 
topographic or other unusual conditions. 
 
Staff Analysis: Neither of the lots are corner lots. 
 
G. In riparian corridors no lots may be created which do not contain adequate building area 
outside the riparian or stream setback. (See Chapter 17.95 of this code.) 
 
Staff Analysis:  The two lots are not located in riparian corridors.   
 
H. With the exception of minimum lot size requirements or subsections D and G of this section, 
the Planning Commission or the City Council may grant an exception to one or more of the 

5.B

Packet Pg. 57



 
 

 

design standards if they find that strict conformance is impractical due to the site’s physical, 
topographic, or geometric conditions or if it would result in an undesirable or inferior subdivision 
design. 
 
Staff Analysis:  The two lots comply with all subdivision design standards. 
 
Condominium Conversion and Conditional Use Permit 
Under CMC §16.68.040(A), a condominium conversion shall only be permitted if “a conditional 
use permit and subsequent final map have been applied for and granted pursuant to this 
chapter and other applicable state and local ordinances regulating use permit and subdivision 
approvals.”   The applicant is requesting approval of a tentative parcel map and conditional use 
permit to convert the existing duplex to a condominium so that each unit may be owned 
individually.  The tentative parcel map (Attachment 1) and condominium map (Attachment 2) 
identify the individual unit area and exclusive use common area allocations for each unit.  The 
individual unit area assigned to each condo unit is the internal living space (1,541 square feet) 
and garage space (317 square feet).  The exclusive use area is the exterior space around each 
unit and, as the name suggests, this open space will be exclusively utilized by the individual 
unit.  The exclusive use area is 2,517 square feet for Unit 1 and 2,657 square feet for Unit 2.  
There is also a shared 4,826 square foot common area for joint use for Units 1 and 2 that 
includes all of the 20-foot-wide driveway that extends to Clares Street. 
 
CMC §16.68.060 lists all of the required contents of an application for a tentative map for a 
condominium conversion.  The majority of these items have been submitted, including: the 
boundary map, property report, structural pest control report, building history report, and 
proposed annual operating budget containing a sinking fund.  The application to the Department 
of Real Estate of the state for issuance of a final public report for the project proposed for 
conversion and the Supplemental Questionnaire for Apartments Converted to Condominium 
Projects are not required because the conversion involves less than four units.  A copy of the 
warranty to be made against defects to provide a minimum coverage of two years from sale of 
unit has been deferred (Condition #33).   
 
A condominium conversion is required to comply with the development standards of section 
16.68.110 through 16.68.190 of the municipal code.  The application complies with the 
standards as follows: 
 
16.68.110 Off-street parking 
 
Staff Analysis:  The project will include one covered parking space and one uncovered space for 
each of the two duplex units, as shown on Sheet C4 – Paving and Parking Plan. 
 
16.68.120 Meters and control valves 
 
Staff Analysis:  Each of the two duplex units has individual gas meters, electric meters, cable 
boxes and water meters. Each unit shall have private access to the meters with the exception 
that the two electric meters serving the duplex are located on the exterior wall of Unit B, as 
shown on Sheet C6, Utility Plan. An exception is requested for the electric meters for the 
duplex. 
 
16.68.130 Overcurrent protection 
 
Staff Analysis:  Each of the two duplex units have individual panel boards for all electrical 
circuits which serve the unit as shown on Sheets A4 and A5. 

5.B

Packet Pg. 58



 
 

 

 
16.68.140 Impact sound insulation 
 
Staff Analysis:  The common wall between Units 1 and 2 conform to and exceed CAC Title 25 
requirements. The common wall consists of two separate unattached wood frame walls, filled 
with batt insulation and covered with acoustic-rated sound deadening drywall.  There are no 
farced air furnaces or air conditioner units in the duplexes. Both operate on a hydronic heat 
system which is silent. Washing and drying machines are located in the respective garages. 
 
16.68.150 Compliance with building and housing codes 
 
Staff Analysis:  The duplex meets or exceeds the building and fire requirements in place at the 
time of construction (circa 1978) and will have all upgraded smoke detectors and carbon dioxide 
detectors meeting current building codes as shown on Sheets A4 and A5. 
 
16.68.160 Storage facilities 
 
Staff Analysis:  Each unit has an existing separate storage facility in the form of a locked 
storage room off the rear deck. Each storage room is 137.8 cubic feet in size. In addition to this 
space, each garage is a total of 311.7 square feet, which is 111.7 square feet over the required 
10-foot by 20-foot parking space, thus providing an additional 111.7 square feet (893.60 cubic 
feet) that can be used for storage. 
 
16.68.170 Open spaces 
 
Staff Analysis:  Each duplex unit has a private fenced-in yard that is 1,185 square feet plus a 
private exterior deck that is 242 square feet, far exceeding the 48-square-foot minimum required 
for multi-family units. These areas are called out on the Tentative Map as “Private Recreational 
Space.” 
 
16.68.80 Condition of equipment and appliances  
 
Staff Analysis:  Waiver requested.  However, new appliances are included in the active building 
permits for the remodel of the two duplex units. 
 
16.68.190 Waiver of Requirements 
 
Staff Analysis:  The provisions of Sections 16.68.110 through 16.68.180 may be waived by the 
Planning Commission if the existing circumstances warrant waiver and the proposed conversion 
substantially conforms to the intent of this section.  There is only one waiver requested, for 
§16.68.180, and the proposed conversion substantially conforms to the intent of Section 
16.68.190.    
 
CMC §16.68.080 lists all of the required provisions of the covenants, conditions and restrictions 

(CC&Rs) for a condominium conversion.  The applicant requested that this be deferred and 
included as a condition of approval for the project.  This requirement is included as Condition 
#32.  
 
Development Standards 
Lot 1 is being developed as a single-family residence and is subject to the R-1 development 
standards.  Lot 2 includes the duplex and is subject to the RM-LM zone development standards. 

5.B

Packet Pg. 59



 
 

 

The proposed development on each lot complies with all development standards, as identified in 
the following tables: 
 

LOT 1: R-1 (Single Family Residential) Development Standards 

Building Height 

R-1 Regulation Standard Proposed 

25 ft. 25 ft. 17 ft. 8 in. 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

 Standard Proposed 

Lot Size 5,000 sq. ft. 5,853 sq. ft. 

Maximum FAR 49 % (2,868 sq. ft.) 40% (2,335 sq. ft.) 

First Story Floor 
Area 

N/A 2,335 sq. ft. 

Yards  

 R-1 Regulation Existing Proposed 

Front Yard 1st 
Story 

15 ft. N/A 21 ft. 

Side Yard 1st Story  10% lot 
width 

Lot width: 39 ft. 3 
in.  
 
3 ft. 11 in. min. 

N/A 4 ft. 3 in. (east side) 
 

4 ft. (west side) 

Rear Yard 1st Story 20% lot 
depth  

Lot depth: 149 ft. 
 
29 ft. 10 in. min. 

N/A 42 ft. 

Encroachments 
(list all) 

None None 

Parking 

 Required Existing Proposed 

Residential (from 
1,501 up to 2,000 
sq. ft.) 

2 spaces total 
1 covered 
1 uncovered 

2 spaces total 
1 covered 
1 uncovered 

2 spaces total 
1 covered 
1 uncovered 

Garage and 
Accessory Bldg. 

Complies with Standards? List non-compliance 

Garage Yes  

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in area Required 

 
 

LOT 2: Multi-Family Low Density (RM-LM) Development Standards 

Building Height 

RM-L Regulation Existing Proposed 

30 ft. 24 ft. 24 ft. 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

 RM-L Regulation Proposed 

Parcel Area per 
Unit, Minimum 

4,400 sq. ft./unit 4,999 sq. ft./unit 

Maximum FAR No Maximum 1,858 sq. ft./unit 

First Story Floor 
Area 

N/A 929 sq. ft. 

Second Story Floor N/A 929 sq. ft. 

5.B

Packet Pg. 60



 
 

 

Area 

Yards  

 RM-L Regulation Existing Proposed 

Front Yard 1st Story 15 ft. 30 ft. 30 ft. 

Front Yard 2nd Story 20 ft. 30 ft. 30 ft. 

Side Yard 1st Story  10% lot 
width 

Lot width: 59 ft. 
5 ft. 11 in. min. 

5 ft. 11 in. east side  
6 ft. 9 in. west side 

5 ft. 11 in. east side  
6 ft. 9 in. west side 

Side Yard 2nd Story  10% lot 
width 

Lot width: 59 ft. 
5 ft. 11 in. min. 

5 ft. 11 in. east side  
6 ft. 9 in. west side 

5 ft. 11 in. east side  
6 ft. 9 in. west side 

Rear Yard 1st & 2nd 
Story 

15% lot 
depth  

Lot depth: 119 
ft. 
17 ft. 10 in. min. 

36 ft. 36 ft. 

Encroachments 
(list all) 

None None 

Parking 

 Required Existing Proposed 

Duplex Homes 2 spaces total 
1 covered 
1 uncovered 

2 spaces total 
1 covered 
1 uncovered 

2 spaces total 
1 covered 
1 uncovered 

Garage and 
Accessory Bldg. 

Required Existing Proposed 

Garage  5 ft. behind front 
building wall of 

primary structure 

Same as primary structure: 
30 ft. 

Same as primary 
structure: 30 ft. 

Existing 
Nonconforming 

Underground Utilities Required 

 
Design Permit 
The proposed single-family residence is a one-story residence with a small front porch oriented 
toward Clares Street.  The exterior finishes include stucco siding with horizontal siding at the 
gable ends.  The windows on the east and west elevations have wood shutters.  The driveway 
is accessed off the shared driveway with the garage on the north side of the home.   
 
The applicant has already completed an exterior upgrade of the existing duplex under a 
separate building permit, replacing the horizontal redwood siding with new horizontal siding on 
the first floor, board and batten siding on the second story, upgraded windows with white trim, 
and new garage doors, which is reflects design elements popular in the Capitola area.  The 
horizontal siding at the gable ends on the new single-family residence compliments the use of 
horizontal siding on the first story of the duplex.   
 
Tree Removal 
The applicant is proposing to remove the two queen palms on the front portion of the property 
and replace them with four new trees.  In addition, the applicant is required to plant an additional 
14 new trees, which are required as part of the previous tree removal.   
 
CEQA 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of a single-family residence 
in a residential zone.  This project involves construction of a new single-family residence subject 
to the RM-L (Residential Multifamily – Low Density) zoning district.   
 

5.B

Packet Pg. 61



 
 

 

Section 15315 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts Minor Land Divisions in urbanized areas zoned 
for residential use into four or fewer parcels when the division is in conformance with the 
General Plan and zoning.  This project involves a two-unit condominium conversion that is in 
compliance with zoning and the General Plan.  No adverse environmental impacts were 
discovered during review of the proposed project. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve application #19-0169, subject to the 
following conditions and based upon the following findings: 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of a tentative parcel map for a two-lot subdivision, 

condominium conversion of an existing duplex, and design permit for a new single-family 
residence. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 5,853-square-foot property with the 
new single-family residence is 49% (2,868 square feet). The total FAR of the project is 
40% with a total of 2,335 square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. 
The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Commission on October 3, 2019, except as modified through conditions 
imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans. All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.  

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.  
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a landscape plan shall be submitted and approved 
by the Community Development Department. The landscape plan can be produced by 
the property owner, landscape professional, or landscape architect.  Landscape plans 
shall reflect the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location 
of species and details of any proposed (but not required) irrigation systems.  

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #19-0169 

shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as 
required to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing 
Ordinance.  
 

5.B

Packet Pg. 62



 
 

 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.  
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan (Temporary Construction BMPs) shall be submitted to the City and 
approved by the Public Works Director.  The plans shall be in compliance with the 
requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16.100 Construction Site 
Storm Water Runoff Control.  All improvements shall be installed prior to the start of 
construction and shall be maintained throughout project duration. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a Stormwater Control 
Plan, Bioretention Construction Checklist, and detailed draft Stormwater Operation and 
Maintenance Plan prepared and certified by a Registered Civil Engineer in accordance 
with the current Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) for a Tier 2 project for review 
and approval by the Public Works Director. 

 
12. Prior to the issuance of the building permit the applicant shall submit plans detailing all 

improvements or modifications that impact or interface with the public right of way.  At a 
minimum these details will include the limits of any existing or proposed curb drains, 
ADA compliant driveway approach, or any other modification to the curb/gutter/sidewalk. 
The extent of all improvements or modifications shall be limited to those areas fronting 
the property boundary and shall not impact the frontage of any adjacent parcels. 
 

13. Prior to any land disturbance, applicant shall notify the Public Works Department 24 
hours in advance for a pre-site inspection to be conducted by the grading official to verify 
compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  All temporary 
sediment and erosion control best management practices (BMPs) shall be maintained 
throughout the project duration. 
 

14. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work. No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

15. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

16. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department.  The driveway approach shall be replaced to meet ADA 
standards along Clares Street. 
 

17. Engineer of Record to inspect construction of stormwater management improvements 
and certify to the City that the construction meets the intent of the approved design 
drawings, Stormwater Control Plan, and City Post Construction Requirements. 
 

18. Engineer of Record to provide record drawings of the constructed improvements. 
 

5.B

Packet Pg. 63



 
 

 

19. Prior to final occupancy approval the applicant shall submit a final Operation and 
Maintenance Plan including any revisions resulting from changes made during 
construction for review, approval and recorded in the Office of the County Recorder by 
the Public Works Director. 
 

20. Prior to final occupancy approval the applicant shall enter into and record in the Office of 
the County Recorder, any agreements identified in the Stormwater Control Plan which 
pertain to the transfer of ownership, right-of-entry for inspection or abatement, and/or 
long-term maintenance of the stormwater treatment BMPs. 
 

21. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the applicant shall demonstrate 
compliance with the tree removal permit authorized by this permit for 2 palm trees to be 
removed from the property. Replacement trees shall be planted at a 2:1 ratio. In 
addition, the applicant shall plant 14 new trees, which were required as part of a 
previous tree removal permit for a joint development project at 4199 and 4201 Clares 
Street.  Required replacement trees shall be of the same size, species and planted on 
the site as shown on the approved plans. 
 

22. Trees approved for removal within this development application may not be removed 
prior to issuance of a building permit.  
  

23. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director. Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

24. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration. Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

25. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

26. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days.  
 

27. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 
overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole. 
 

28. The Applicant shall prepare and submit a parcel map showing the original parcel and the 
parcels being created by the lot division with pertinent supporting data. Said map shall 
be filed with the Public Works Department with the appropriate review fees for review by 
the City Surveyor. Said parcel map shall be prepared by a licensed land surveyor who 
shall be responsible for responding to comments until the map is acceptable to the 
Public Works Department. 
 

5.B

Packet Pg. 64



 
 

 

29. All plans and profiles of improvements shall be approved by the Public Works Director 
prior to issuance of the building permit, and the construction of said improvements shall 
be in accordance with the City Specifications and shall be inspected by the Public Works 
Director or his authorized agent, subject to fees appropriate for the services. 
 

30. Prior to recording of the parcel map, either all street and utility improvements, as 
required by the Public Works Department (i.e. curbs, gutters, sidewalks, paving, etc.) 
shall be completed or the developer must enter into a subdivision agreement with the 
Public Works Department which will include bonding for street and utility improvements. 
 

31. Prior to the recordation of the parcel map, the applicant shall submit new legal 
descriptions for each lot for review by the Community Development Director. 
 

32. Available and necessary utilities, including CATV (cable television service) hookup 
facilities, with connections to each lot within the subdivision, shall be constructed in 
accordance with the utility's requirements. All utilities shall be underground. 
 

33. Prior to the recordation of the parcel map, the applicant shall submit the covenants, 
conditions, and restrictions (CC&Rs) for the condominium conversion for review by the 
Community Development Director.  The CC&Rs shall contain the following provisions: 

a. The specific assignment of parking spaces; 
b. Provisions for management and maintenance of common areas and facilities 

within the project; 
c. Provisions making the city a party in title to enforce maintenance requirements 

contained in the covenants, conditions and restrictions and to compensate the 
city for reasonable attorney’s fees and costs in so enforcing; 

d. Provisions that, in the event of default in payment of annual assessments, 
members of the association shall be subjected to penalties for late payment and 
reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred in collection of the assessments; 

e. Provisions allowing the association to terminate the contract of any person or 
organization engaged by the developer; 

f. Wall and floor-ceiling assemblies shall conform to Title 25, California 
Administrative Code, Section 1092, or its successor, or permanent mechanical 
equipment, including domestic appliances, which is determined by the director of 
building and zoning to be a potential source of vibration or noise, shall be shock-
mounted, isolated from the floor and ceiling, or otherwise installed in a manner 
approved by the director of building and zoning to lessen the transmission of 
vibration and noise. Floor covering may only be replaced by another floor 
covering that provides the same or greater insulation; 

g. Restrict RVs or provide separate screened area. 
 

34. Prior to recordation of the parcel map, applicant shall submit a copy of warranty to be 
made against defects to provide a minimum coverage of two years from sale of unit for 
review by the Community Development Director. 

 
FINDINGS 

A. The proposed project is consistent with the general plan, local coastal program, 
and any applicable specific plan, area plan, or other design policies and 
regulations adopted by the city council. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed tentative parcel map 

5.B

Packet Pg. 65



 
 

 

for a two-lot subdivision, condominium conversion of an existing duplex, and design 
permit for a new single-family residence comply with the development standards of the 
RM-L District.  The project secures the purpose of the General Plan and design policies 
and regulations adopted by the City Council. 
 

B. The proposed project complies with all applicable provisions of the zoning code 
and municipal code. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for a tentative parcel map for a 
two-lot subdivision, condominium conversion of an existing duplex, and design permit for 
a new single-family residence. The project complies with all applicable provisions of the 
zoning code and municipal code. 
 

C. The proposed project has been reviewed in compliance with the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 
This construction of a new single-family residence is categorically exempt under Section 
15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines, which exempts the construction of a single-family 
residence in a residential zone.   
 
The subdivision and condominium conversion are categorically exempt under Section 
15315 of the CEQA Guidelines, which exempts Minor Land Divisions in urbanized areas 
zoned for residential use into four or fewer parcels when the division is in conformance 
with the General Plan and zoning.  This project involves a two-lot subdivision and a two-
unit condominium conversion that are in compliance with zoning and the General Plan.  
No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed 
project.  
 

D. The proposed development will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or 
welfare or materially injurious to the properties or improvements in the vicinity. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed tentative parcel map 
for a two-lot subdivision, condominium conversion of an existing duplex, and design 
permit for a new single-family residence will not be detrimental to the public health, 
safety, or welfare or materially injurious to the properties or improvements in the vicinity.  
 

E. The proposed project complies with all applicable design review criteria in Section 
17.120.070 (Design review criteria). 
The Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the application. The proposed tentative 

parcel map for a two-lot subdivision, condominium conversion of an existing duplex, and 

design permit for a new single-family residence complies with all applicable design 

review criteria in Section 17.120.070. 

 
F. For projects in residential neighborhoods, the proposed project maintains the 

character, scale, and development pattern of the neighborhood.  
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 

Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for the tentative parcel map for a 

two-lot subdivision, condominium conversion of an existing duplex, and design permit for 

a new single-family residence.  The design of the home with small front porch and 

stucco siding with horizontal siding at the gable ends will fit in nicely with the existing 

neighborhood. The project will maintain the character, scale, and development pattern of 

5.B

Packet Pg. 66



 
 

 

the neighborhood.   

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 4199 Clares Street - #19-0169 - Full Plan Set - 07.05.2019 
2. 4199 Clares Street - Condominium Plan - 09.26.2019 
3. 4199 Clares Street - Project Narrative 
4. 4199 Clares Street - Description of Provisions for Meeting Standards 
5. 4199 Clares Street - Building Report 
6. 4199 Clares Street - Preliminary HOA budget 
7. 4199 Clares Street - Property Report 
8. 4199 Clares Street - Pest Control Report 
9. 4199 Clares Street - SC County Sanitation - Sewer Availability 
10. 4199 Clares Street - SCWD Water Service Letter 
11. 4199 Clares Street - Central Fire Protection District - Service Confirmation 

 
Prepared By: Matt Orbach 
  Associate Planner 

5.B

Packet Pg. 67



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
#1

9-
01

69
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 0

7.
05

.2
01

9 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.2

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
C

o
n

d
o

m
in

iu
m

 P
la

n
 -

 0
9.

26
.2

01
9 

 (
41

99
 C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



5.B.2

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
C

o
n

d
o

m
in

iu
m

 P
la

n
 -

 0
9.

26
.2

01
9 

 (
41

99
 C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



4199 Clares Street, Capitola, CA 95010 

 

Project Narrative 

 

 

Santa Cruz Urban Solutions, LLC purchased the property at 4199 Clares from Clares Street Partners, LLC 

in January 2019. The property is 15,851 square feet (0.36 acres) and has a 3,080 sq. ft. duplex. The prior 

owner demolished the house at the front of the property to make room for 3 townhouses. 

 

Our vision for the property is to put back a single-family home at the front of the property and renovate 

the duplex at the rear of the property. The application includes a tentative map that will split the parcel 

into two lots, and a condominium map that will create 2 condominium units. This project does not have 

any connection with adjacent properties. 

 

The project includes the removal of two palm trees at the front of the property. These two non-native trees 

are unsightly and out of scale at this location. They will be replaced with new street trees. This proposal 

includes a total of 18 new trees. Four trees are to provide mitigation for the removal of the two palms. An 

additional 14 trees are to fulfill a promise reportedly made by the prior owner. 

 

The design of the new house is proposed to take its architectural cues from the California Craftsman style 

evident throughout Capitola. 

 

Other proposed improvements include regrading the site to improve drainage, paving an access road to 

the rear units, replacing fencing with 5’ – 6’ redwood 1” x 8” fencing, landscaping, and repairing or 

replacing the retaining wall at the front of the property. 

 

 

 

5.B.3

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
P

ro
je

ct
 N

ar
ra

ti
ve

  (
41

99
 C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



Santa Cruz Urban Solutions, LLC 

 

4545 Clares Street, Capitola, CA 95010 

(707) 372-6634 

 

4199 CLARES STREET, CAPITOLA, CA 

 

DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT PROPOSAL INCLUDING PROVISIONS FOR MEETING 

THE STANDARDS SET FORTH IN CITY OF CAPITOLA CONDOMINIUM AND COMMUNITY 

APARTMENT CONVERSIONS, SECTIONS 10.68.100 THROUGH 16.68.190 

 

 

16.68.100 Residential condominium and community apartment conversion development standards – 

Generally 

 

• Project will conform to Sections 10.68.110 through 16.68.190 

 

16.68.110 Off-street parking 

 

• The project will include one covered parking space and one uncovered space for each of the two 

duplex units plus two covered parking spaces for the new single-family residence. (6 total) as 

shown on Sheet C4 – Paving and Parking Plan. 

 

16.68.120 Meters and control valves 

 

• Each of the two duplex units, as well as the single-family residence has individual gas meters, 

electric meters, cable boxes and water meters. Each unit shall have private access to the meters 

with the exception that the two electric meters serving the duplex are located on the exterior wall 

of Unit B, as shown on Sheet C6, Utility Plan. An exception is requested for the electric meters for 

the duplex. 

 

16.68.130 Overcurrent protection 

 

• Each of the two duplex units and the single-family residence have individual panel boards for all 

electrical circuits which serve the unit as shown on Sheets A4 and A5. 

 

16.68.140 Impact sound insulation 

 

• The common wall between Units C and D conform to and exceed CAC Title 25 requirements. The 

common wall consists of two separate unattached wood frame walls, filled with batt insulation and 

covered with acoustic-rated sound deadening drywall. 

• There are no farced air furnaces or air conditioner units in the duplexes. Both operate on a hydronic 

heat system which is silent. Washing and drying machines are located in the respective garages. 

 

 

 

 

5.B.4

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
D

es
cr

ip
ti

o
n

 o
f 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

s 
fo

r 
M

ee
ti

n
g

 S
ta

n
d

ar
d

s 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



16.68.150 Compliance with building and housing codes 

 

• The duplex meets or exceeds the building and fire requirements in place at the time of construction 

(circa 1978).  

• The duplex will have all upgraded smoke detectors and CO2 detectors meeting current building 

codes as shown on Sheets A4 and A5. 

• The new single-family residence will be required to meet the current building and fire code at the 

time the building permit is approved, including smoke and CO2 detectors. 

 

16.68.160 Storage facilities 

 

• Each of the two duplex units has an existing separate storage facility in the form of a locked storage 

room off the rear deck. Each storage room is 137.8 cubic feet in size. In addition to this space, each 

garage is a total of 311.7 sq. ft., which is 111.7 sq. ft. over the required 10x20 parking space, thus 

providing an additional 111.7 sq. ft. (893.60 cubic ft.) that can be used for storage. 

 

16.68.170 Open spaces 

 

• Each duplex unit has a private fenced-in yard that is 1,185 sq. ft plus a private exterior deck that is 

242 sq. ft., far exceeding the minimum required for multi-family units. These areas are called out 

on the Tentative Map as “Private Recreational Space.” 

 

16.68.80 Condition of equipment and appliances  

 

• Waived 

 

16.68.190 

 

• The proposed conversion substantially conforms to the intent of Section 16.68.190. 

 

 

5.B.4

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
D

es
cr

ip
ti

o
n

 o
f 

P
ro

vi
si

o
n

s 
fo

r 
M

ee
ti

n
g

 S
ta

n
d

ar
d

s 
 (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



4199 Clares Street, Capitola, CA  
 
 
 

BUILDING HISTORY REPORT 
 
 

1. Summary of the date of construction of all elements of the project. 

 

 

There are two elements to the project: 

 

A single-family home – date of construction unknown but estimate 1935. (Unit “A”) 

 

A duplex – date of construction: 1978. (Units “B” and “C”). 

 

2. Major uses of the project since construction 

 

The sole uses of the project have been for residential habitation. 

 

3. Date and description of each major repair and/or renovation of any element since the date of 

construction 

 

11/14/78 Permit to re-roof Unit A 

12/20/78 Permit to construct duplex, units B and C 

2/25/80  Permit to install underground utilities to units B and C 

12/4/98  Permit to replace exterior deck, units B and C 

1/25/01  Permit to re-roof Unit A 

4/30/12  Permit to replace stairs to current code units B and C 

8/9/16 Permit to R/R existing comp roofing w/ a new Class A comp roof and flashing, 

units B and C 

4/24/18  Permit to demo existing SFD unit A 

2/15/19  Permit to remodel and update electrical Unit B (ongoing) 

2/15/19  Permit to remodel and update electrical Unit C (ongoing) 

3/25/19  Permit to remodel upgrade plumbing, appliances, hydronic heater, insulation, 

drywall, fireplace insert, doors, tubs, showers, fans, and garage door Unit B 

(ongoing) 

3/25/19  Permit to remodel upgrade plumbing, appliances, hydronic heater, insulation, 

drywall, fireplace insert, doors, tubs, showers, fans, and garage door C (ongoing) 

4/18/19  Permit to replace fence, all units 

 

4. Current project ownership: 

 

Santa Cruz Urban Solutions, LLC 

4545 Clares Street 

Capitola, CA 95010 

 

 

Prepared by: Larry Andrews 

   July 5, 2019 

5.B.5

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
B

u
ild

in
g

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
41

99
 C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



4199 Clares Street, Capitola, CA 95010

PRELIMINARY

Annual Common Area Maintenance Reserve Budget

Annual Common Area Maintenance

1 Landscaping Estimated budget: $200 per month ($2,400 annual) 200.00$      

Annual capital improvement reserves:

Life  Replacement Replacement  Annualized

Expectancy (yrs) Cost, current dollars Cost, future dollars* Cost

1 Asphalt concrete 20 25,000.00                    45,250.00                      2,262.50$  

2 Concrete curb and apron 50 3,000.00                       13,140.00                      262.80$      

3 Concrete driveways 50 2,750.00                       12,045.00                      240.90$      

4 Landscape drain 50 2,000.00                       8,760.00                        175.20$      

5 Sanitary sewer 50 2,000.00                       8,760.00                        175.20$      

Total annual budgetf ro reserves 3,116.60$  

Monthly charge 259.72$      

Total proposed first year monthly assessment 459.72$      

5.B.6

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
H

O
A

 b
u

d
g

et
  (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



4199 Clares Street, Capitola, CA 95010 

 

Condominium Conversion 

 

PROPERTY REPORT 

 

 

The condition and estimated remaining useful life of each of the following elements of each structure 

situated within the project proposed for conversion is as follows. The estimated remaining life of 

individual items was determined using the International Association of Certified Home Inspectors 

(NACHI) Standard Chart. 

 

1. Roof – The roof was inspected, and minor repairs were made in February 2019 by Hardy Roof 

Inspections. The estimated remaining life of the roof is 25 – 30 years. 

 

2. Foundation – the concrete mat slab foundation was observed after all floor coverings were 

removed. There were no visible signs of cracking or other deterioration. Estimated remaining life 

is 60 years. 

 

3. Exterior Paint – The buildings will be repainted as part of conversion. Estimated life of exterior 

paint is 7 – 10 years. 

 

4. Paved Surfaces – All paved surfaces will be replaced with new concrete or asphalt. Estimated 

remaining life for asphalt pavement is 15 – 20 years and for concrete hardscape 40 – 50 years. 

 

5. Mechanical Systems – All radiant baseboard heaters will be replaced. Estimated remaining life is 

20 years. The boiler in Unit C will be replaced. Estimated remaining life is 40 years. The boiler in 

Unit B will be serviced. Estimated remaining life is 20 years. 

 

6. Electric Systems – All electric systems will be updated and modernized to current Building Code. 

Estimated remaining life is 50 years. 

 

7. Plumbing Systems – Rough plumbing will be repaired and brought up to current Building Code. 

Estimated remaining life is 50 years All fixtures, tubs, showers, sinks and faucets will be replaced 

with new ones. Estimated remaining life 20 – 50 years. 

 

 

In addition to the above items, each unit will receive: 

 

a. All windows will be replaced with new energy efficient windows 

b. All doors will be replaced including the garage door. 

c. Each fireplace will be replaced with an energy efficient model. 

d. All cabinets, countertops and appliances will be replaced.  

e. All plumbing fixture will be replaced with low-flow fixtures. 

f. All showers and tile will be replaced. 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Larry Andrews, P.E. 

RCE #47013 

April 13, 2019 

5.B.7

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
P

ro
p

er
ty

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
41

99
 C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



5.B.8

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
P

es
t 

C
o

n
tr

o
l R

ep
o

rt
  (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.8

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
P

es
t 

C
o

n
tr

o
l R

ep
o

rt
  (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.8

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
P

es
t 

C
o

n
tr

o
l R

ep
o

rt
  (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.8

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
P

es
t 

C
o

n
tr

o
l R

ep
o

rt
  (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.8

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
P

es
t 

C
o

n
tr

o
l R

ep
o

rt
  (

41
99

 C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t)



5.B.9

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
S

C
 C

o
u

n
ty

 S
an

it
at

io
n

 -
 S

ew
er

 A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

  (
41

99
 C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



5.B.9

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
S

C
 C

o
u

n
ty

 S
an

it
at

io
n

 -
 S

ew
er

 A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

  (
41

99
 C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



5.B.9

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
S

C
 C

o
u

n
ty

 S
an

it
at

io
n

 -
 S

ew
er

 A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

  (
41

99
 C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



5.B.9

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
S

C
 C

o
u

n
ty

 S
an

it
at

io
n

 -
 S

ew
er

 A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

  (
41

99
 C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



WATER SERVICE 

INFORMATION FORM
W a t e r  D e p a r t m e n t

Owner:

Site Address: 

Site APN:

Project Description: 

September 18, 2019

034-222-05

Minor Land Division

4199 Clares St # B, Capitola

Clares Street Partners Llc

Your project is located within the City of Santa Cruz Water Service area .The subject parcel is currently a developed 

lot, with an existing water service, and is subject to the following conditions:

1. No water service work is required for the proposed minor land division. If building 

permits are applied for in the future, the water services for Units "B" & "C" may be 

required to be relocated to front the parcel they serve.

If you have any questions, please contact the Water Department Engineering Division at (831) 420-5210

Sincerely,

BJ Dericco

City of Santa Cruz | Water Dept., Engineering

212 Locust Street, Suite C

Santa Cruz, CA 95060

5.B.10

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
S

C
W

D
 W

at
er

 S
er

vi
ce

 L
et

te
r 

 (
41

99
 C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



1

Orbach, Matthew (morbach@ci.capitola.ca.us)

From: Karen Miller <KarenM@centralfpd.com>
Sent: Wednesday, September 25, 2019 11:52 AM
To: Orbach, Matthew (morbach@ci.capitola.ca.us)
Cc: Mike DeMars
Subject: 4199 Clares Street

Mr. Orbach, 
 
I am emailing you regarding 4199 Clares Street, Capitola which is in the Central Fire Protection District of 
Santa Cruz County’s jurisdiction, we are the local Fire District for that location. 
 
For future reference, Central Fire Protection District is the local fire agency for all occupancies and vacant lots 
within the City of Capitola’s jurisdiction. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this please feel free to contact me at the information below. 
 
Regards, 
 

 

 

 
 
 

KAREN MILLER 
FIRE PREVENTION COORDINATOR 
Aptos/La Selva Fire Protection District &  
Central Fire Protection District of Santa Cruz County 
6934 Soquel Drive • Aptos, CA 95003 
(831) 685-6698 • (831) 685-6699 FAX • (831) XXX-XXXX CELL 
www.aptosfire.com • www.centralfpd.com  

 

 

5.B.11

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

19
9 

C
la

re
s 

S
tr

ee
t 

- 
C

en
tr

al
 F

ir
e 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
- 

S
er

vi
ce

 C
o

n
fi

rm
at

io
n

  (
41

99
 C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: OCTOBER 3, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: 1600 49th Avenue  #19-0260  APN: 034-041-26 
 

Appeal of an administrative denial of a tree removal application for a 
tree located within the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Michael & Vickie Oliver 
Representative: Michael & Vickie Oliver, Filed: 05.28.2019 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicants are appealing an administrative denial of a Tree Removal Permit for a coastal 
redwood tree at 1600 49th Avenue in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On March 13, 2019, the applicants submitted a preliminary review for a tree removal permit for a 
coastal redwood tree located in the front yard of 1600 49th Avenue.   
 
On March 15, 2019, City Maintenance Superintendent Ed Morrison visited the site and observed 
the tree.  Mr. Morrison could not make the required findings to administratively allow the tree’s 
removal. He recommended that a city-contracted arborist review the tree.   
 
On April 3, 2019, the applicants provided a letter from registered forester, Michael Jani. 
(Attachment 2).  Mr. Jani recommended the removal of the tree. Mr. Jani’s letter was 
accompanied by a letter from the applicant and another letter from the adjacent property owner 
at 4910 Capitola Road (Attachment 1).  
 
On April 12, 2019, Arborist James Allen was contracted by the City to assess the tree’s 
condition and review the forester’s letter.  On May 3, 2019, Mr. Allen drafted an arborist report 
which concluded that the required findings for removal could not be made and recommended 
alternative actions be taken (Attachment 3).  
 
On May 16, 2019, the City sent a letter to the applicant denying the tree removal request for the 
coastal redwood, stating that findings to approve the tree removal could not be made.  The letter 
included approval for tree pruning as described in the arborist report. 
 

5.C

Packet Pg. 110



 
 

 

On May 28, 2019, the applicant submitted an appeal of the denial (Attachment 4).  The 
applicant requested that the appeal be scheduled on the October Planning Commission meeting 
due to scheduling conflicts throughout the summer months.  
 
DISCUSSION 
The appellants are requesting to remove one large Coastal Redwood tree located at 1600 49th 
Avenue.  The appellants and their adjacent neighbor at 4910 Capitola Road outlined the 
reasons for the removal request in a letter relating to the safety of the tree over their home 
(Attachment 1).  The letters indicate that the tree has lost large branches on two occasions in 
2019 between the properties at 1600 49th Avenue and 4910 Capitola Road.   
 
The coastal redwood tree is located in the front yard of 1600 49th Avenue approximately five feet 
from the side property line.   The tree is several feet in diameter at breast height, with a large 
canopy.  The lower canopy extends over the northwest corner of the appellants’ residence at 
1600 49th Avenue.  The canopy extends into the the adjacent property at 4910 Capitola Road, 
but is not over the residence.  The tree is not located in an environmentally sensitive habitat 
area.       
 
Community Tree and Forest Management Ordinance 
Under the City’s Community Tree and Forest Management Ordinance, Section 12.12.180(C) 
allows public works department staff to approve the removal of a non-heritage tree if the 
findings in subsections (C)(1) through (c)(4) can be made.  If after conducting the 
complimentary inspection public works staff cannot make the required findings, the application 
is reviewed by Planning and the city may require the applicant to pay for an arborist under 
contract to the city, to provide a report regarding the tree.  Based on the City’s evaluation report, 
the Community Development Director makes a decision as to whether or not the tree removal 
should be approved in compliance with the required findings. Where the director denies an 
application, the decision may be appealed in writing within ten working days of denial.  The 
Planning Commission may grant or deny the appeal based on the findings of Section 
12.12.180(C)(1) through (C)(4). 
 
C. Findings and Conditions 

a. The tree removal is in the public interest based on one of the following: 
i. Because of the health or condition of the tree, with respect to disease infestation, or 

danger of falling; 
ii. Safety considerations; or 
iii.    In situations where a tree has caused, or has the potential to cause, unreasonable 

property damage and/or interference with existing utility services. 
b. All possible and feasible alternatives to tree removal have been evaluated, including, 

but not limited to undergrounding of utilities, selective root cutting, trimming and 
relocation. 

c. The type, size and schedule for planting replacement trees is specified and shall be 
concurrent with the tree removal or prior to it, in accordance with Section 12.12.190(F) 
and (G). 

d. The removal of the tree would not be contrary to the purposes of this chapter and 
Chapter 17.95. 

 
Review by Registered Forester 
As previously mentioned, the appellants submitted a letter from Michael Jani, a registered 
forester (Attachment 2).  Mr. Jani assessed the tree as fast-growing and healthy other than salt 
burn on the branch tips from the coastal environment.  He identified that the tree has relatively 
long and thick branches which show signs of past pruning and that the crown appears to have 

5.C

Packet Pg. 111



 
 

 

been topped.  His assessment was that the recent breakages were caused by prior pruning 
which had weakened branch stability against windy conditions. Mr. Jani stated these breakages 
have created an opening in the canopy, further weakening it and increasing the likelihood of 
future breakages.  Mr. Jani concluded that the tree posed a hazard to both properties and 
recommended removal. 
 
City Arborist Review 
On May 3, 2019, Arborist James Allen prepared a report assessing the tree’s conditions relative 
to Capitola’s tree ordinance and reviewing the letter provided by the registered forester 
(Attachment 4). Mr. Allen concurred that the tree was in favorable health with some salt burn 
and that the recent breakages were due to a combination of prior pruning, topping, and windy 
conditions.  Although he agreed that the weighted branches are likely to continue breaking, he 
disputed the forester’s conclusion that the tree had outgrown the area or that the risk of 
breakage was beyond mitigation.  Mr. Allen stated that the tree did not show any signs of proper 
maintenance or pruning.  He recommended branch length reduction to prune the branches to 
lateral growth.  He stated that this treatment had had been previously successful on similarly 
isolated coastal redwoods in Santa Cruz County.  
 
In reviewing James Allen’s arborist report with the standards for tree removal established in 
Section 12.12.180(C) of the Capitola Municipal Code, the findings for tree removal could not be 
made; therefore, the application was denied.   
 

C(1)(a). Because of the health or condition of the tree, with respect to disease infestation, 
or danger of falling. 
Arborist Analysis: This tree is in a good state of vigor with long, weighted 
branches that are prone to continued breakage.  The supporting roots and trunk 
appear solid and are not expected to fail in the foreseeable future. 

 
C(1)(b).  Safety considerations 
 Arborist Analysis: All trees create some level of risk that can only be managed, 

not eliminated unless the subject trees are removed. With proper maintenance 
pruning, the subject tree can stand for generations to come with minimal risk of 
failure. 

 
C(1)(c).  In situations where a tree has caused, or has the potential to cause, 

unreasonable property damage and/or interference with existing utility services. 
 Arborist Analysis: There are risk mitigation treatments available for the subject 

tree other than tree removal that will reduce risk to a tolerable threshold and 
diminish future branch failure potential. 

 
C(2).  All possible and feasible alternatives to tree removal have been evaluated, 

including, but not limited to undergrounding of utilities, selective root cutting, 
trimming and relocation. 

 Arborist Analysis: Branch length reduction is a pruning technique where each 
branch is shortened to lateral growth lessening the weight the branch upholds. 
This treatment has been successful in reducing and in some cases, eliminating 
branch failure potential.   

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Based on the recommendations of the City’s contracted certified arborist, staff recommends the 
Planning Commission deny the appeal and uphold the staff denial of the tree removal and 
approval of pruning measures established in the arborist report.   

5.C

Packet Pg. 112



 
 

 

 
The Planning Commission has the ability to uphold or deny tree removal applications on appeal 
if it can make the findings for removal, pursuant to Section 12.12.180(C)(1) through (C)(2).  
 

FINDINGS FOR DENIAL 
The removal of the Coastal Redwood located in the front yard at 1600 39th Avenue is not 
in the public interest. 
 

A. The tree is not in need of removal due to health or condition, with respect to 
disease infestation, or danger of falling. 
The city-contracted arborist studied the coastal redwood tree and found it to be in a good 
state of vigor with long, weighted branches that are prone to continued breakage.  The 
supporting roots and trunk appear solid and are not expected to fail in the foreseeable 
future.  The tree is in need of proper maintenance and pruning.   
 

B. The tree does not pose a safety concern if mitigating action is taken. 
The city-contracted arborist recommended proper maintenance and pruning to allow the 
subject tree to stand for generations to come with minimal risk of failure. 

 
C. The tree has not caused, nor has the potential to cause unreasonable property 

damage and/or interreference with existing utility services if mitigating action is 
taken. 
The city-contracted arborist recommended proper maintenance and pruning of the 
coastal redwood tree to reduce risk to a tolerable threshold and diminish future branch 
failure potential.   

 
D. There are feasible alternatives to tree removal that secure the purposes of the 

Community Tree and Forest Management Ordinance.  
The city-contracted arborist recommended proper maintenance and pruning.  
Specifically, branch length reduction is a pruning technique where each branch is 
shortened to lateral growth lessening the weight the branch upholds. This treatment has 
been successful in reducing and in some cases, eliminating branch failure potential. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 1600 49th Avenue - Resident Documentation 
2. 1600 49th Avenue - Forester Letter 
3. 1600 49th Avenue - Arborist Review 
4. 1600 49th Avenue - Appeal Letter 

 
Prepared By: Sean Sesanto 

5.C

Packet Pg. 113



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

R
es

id
en

t 
D

o
cu

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

  (
16

00
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

R
es

id
en

t 
D

o
cu

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

  (
16

00
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

R
es

id
en

t 
D

o
cu

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

  (
16

00
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

R
es

id
en

t 
D

o
cu

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

  (
16

00
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

R
es

id
en

t 
D

o
cu

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

  (
16

00
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



5.C.2

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
o

re
st

er
 L

et
te

r 
 (

16
00

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Dedicated to the Preservation of Trees

119 Surfside Avenue
Santa Cruz, CA 95060

831.426.6603 office
831.234.7739 mobile 

jpallen@consultingarborists.com
www.consultingarborists.com

Consulting Arborists

May 2, 2019 

City of Capitola Planning Department 
Attention: Sean Sesanto, Assistant Planner 
420 Capitola Avenue 
Capitola, CA 95010 

Regarding: Coast redwood (Sequoia sempervirens) growing at 1600 49th Avenue  

Mr. Sesanto, 

At your request I completed the following analysis: 

Review: 
• Registered Professional Forester Letter  dated April 4, 2019 submitted by Michael E. Jani,

California Registered Professional Forester (RPF)#1856

• Letter from Michael and Vickie Oliver, property/tree owners dated April 3, 2019

• Letter from Missy and Robert Brigante, neighbors at 4910 Capitola Road, not dated

A visual analysis of the subject coast redwood tree from adjacent City streets while standing on 
the ground.  

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 
Letter Review 
Three letters have been submitted by a RPF, the property owner and the adjacent neighbor. 

The assessment of this tree’s condition by Mr. Michael Jani, RPF is accurate: 
• This tree is quite healthy with minor influences of salinity burn do to proximity of ocean

influences

• This tree has very large, long limbs due to genetics and excellent cultural growing conditions

• Past pruning; thinning, limb removal and topping along with branch breakage has created
spaces/voids and opened wind corridors in the tree’s canopy resulting in increased branch
failure potential during strong wind events that are typical “during large winter storms”.

Mr. Jani inaccurately states that this species is not native to the area and has outgrown the neighborhood. 

5.C.3

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

A
rb

o
ri

st
 R

ev
ie

w
  (

16
00

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



2 

The property owner states that he engaged Mr. Jani to evaluate the safety of the subject tree, that his 
qualifications are more stringent than those of an arborist and that his knowledge has been gained over 
45 years of managing redwood trees in Santa Cruz County.     

Letters from the property owner and adjacent neighbor describe the recent history of branch failure, 
state their safety concerns and the necessity for tree removal. 

Visual Analysis 
This tree is well rooted with stout buttress and trunk components that appear to be solid and free of 
decay or disease.  

I concur with Mr. Janis’ assessment of canopy, branch components and overall tree vigor. 

There is currently one disconnected branch on the north side of the upper canopy overhanging the 
neighboring driveway. 

CONCLUSIONS 
This tree is in a good state of vigor with long, weighted branches that are prone to continued breakage. 
The supporting roots and trunk appear solid and are not expected to fail in the foreseeable future, 
Branch failures that occurred during January and March of 2019 may have been triggered by atypical 
storm events with strong bursts of high velocity wind that increased the load on the large diameter, 
long branches. Wind load is a dynamic force imposed upon structural components by constantly 
changing pressure, direction and duration of wind events.

Mr. Jani, the property owner and neighbor bring forward the recommendation and necessity for tree 
removal as the sole risk management treatment. 

Risk is the combination of the likelihood of an event and the severity of the potential consequences. In 
the context of trees, risk combines the likelihood of a conflict or tree failure occurring and affecting a 
target with the severity of the associated consequences-personal injury, property damage or disruption 
of activities (Dunster, 2013). All trees create some level of risk that can only be managed, not 
eliminated unless the subject trees are removed. Thus, there is no such thing as a “safe” tree nor can 
this or any other tree be made “safe”. 

RPFs have extensive education, skills and experience managing forest systems for habitat preservation 
and managing timber stands to generate the sale of lumber and other forest products as commodities. 
RPFs are typically not trained to assess risk nor manage trees in urban settings as arborists are. 

Professional standards for risk assessment are defined by American National Standards Institute 
(ANSI) A-300 (Part 9) and the International Society of Arboriculture (ISA) Best Management 
Practices. These well-known and respected standards were not adhered to by Mr. Jani. 

There is no reported history of tree maintenance by the current owner. The subject tree does not appear 
to have been pruned or managed in a manner that would decrease branch failure potential.  

There are risk mitigation treatments available for the subject tree other than tree removal that will 
reduce risk to a tolerable threshold and diminish future branch failure potential. Branch length 
reduction is a pruning technique where each branch is shortened to lateral growth lessening the weight 
the branch upholds. This treatment has been successful in reducing and in some cases, eliminating 
branch failure potential. 

5.C.3

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

A
rb

o
ri

st
 R

ev
ie

w
  (

16
00

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



3 

Several coast redwood trees growing in this area with conditions similar to the subject tree have been 
successfully treated by reducing branch length.  Each of these trees had history of branch breakage 
prior to risk reduction management pruning. Three coast redwood trees pictured below and on the 
following page were pruned to reduce branch length between 8 and 10 years ago. There has not been 
any branch failure since they were pruned. 

Double trunk coast redwood located on Sylvar Street in Santa Cruz. 

5.C.3

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

A
rb

o
ri

st
 R

ev
ie

w
  (

16
00

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.C.3

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

A
rb

o
ri

st
 R

ev
ie

w
  (

16
00

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Appeal of findings to Planning Commission of the City of Capitola 
Re: Coast redwood (Sequoia sempervirens) at 1600 49-th Avenue 

 
City of Capitola Planning Commission 
Attention: Sean Sesanto, Assistant Planner 
420 Capitola Avenue Capitola, CA 95010 
 
To Capitola Planning Commission; 
 
We regret that City staff has denied our request to remove this tree for safety reasons a second time. We 
tried to remove the tree in 2012 for safety reasons due to our neighbors expressing concerns over falling 
branches but were denied. After the 2012 denial, we hired Lewis Tree Service at a cost of about $2,000 in 
late 2012 or early 2013 and worked with their arborist, Mike Hernandez, to prune and tip branches to 
minimize future branch failures. The fact that we are applying again to remove this tree indicates how 
ineffectual these strategies are in minimizing branch failure. 
 
We are not asking to remove this tree lightly. We have landscaped to make the tree a focal point of our 
yard and were not considering removing this tree, even with the branches falling after the tree pruning, 
until the events of this year. We genuinely appreciate the beauty of the tree.  With this said, we do not 
believe we can ignore any longer that we and our neighbor’s face a serious safety issue with falling 
branches from our tree. 
 
The staff denial for removal is based upon the City’s arborist’s, Mr. Allen, report that felt further branch 
pruning to reduce weight would be sufficient to minimize or eliminate branch failure. We feel that Mr. Allen 
was working at a disadvantage when it came to evaluating our tree. That is, it seems Capitola/staff do not 
feel that evaluations of trees require the individual doing the evaluation talk to the owners to determine: 

1. Past maintenance; 
2. Number of events; 
3. Conditions during events; and 
4. Other critical information (e.g., mold and root removal remedy that may further weaken tree). 

 
I would like to think if Mr. Allen spoken to us and our neighbors that he would have concluded to remove 
the tree due to the present condition of the tree, our level of risk tolerance and conditions that resulted in 
branch failures. Even if he came to the same conclusions we would have felt better about the process. How 
is it possible for anyone to properly evaluate the removal or other strategies of trees without having a 
complete history? We paid Capitola $1,000 to have a tree evaluation done that was inadequate due to the 
process; and we feel cheated out of that money.  
 
In addition to Capitola’s poor administrative process for tree removal that we believe handicapped the 
arborist from obtaining critical evidence, my wife and I have read James Allen letter dated May 2, 2019 
and we have some very deep concerns about the letter and conclusions. I will attempt to describe what I 
believe both the registered professional forester (RFP), Mike Jani, and James Allen agree to about our 
redwood and the flaws in Mr. Allen’s letter and conclusions.  
 
It appears Mr. Allen and Mr. Jani are of like mind in the following areas when Mr. Allen in his letter states 
that: 

The assessment of this tree's condition by Mr. Michael Jani, RPF is accurate: 
• This tree is quite healthy with minor influences of salinity burn do to proximity of ocean 

influences 

5.C.4

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

A
p

p
ea

l L
et

te
r 

 (
16

00
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



• This tree has very large, long limbs due to genetics and excellent cultural growing 
conditions 

• Past pruning; thinning, limb removal and topping along with branch breakage has created 
spaces/voids and opened wind corridors in the tree's canopy resulting in increased branch 
failure potential during strong wind events that are typical "during large winter storms". 
(Quotation marks added by Mr. Allen and not in Mr. Jani report) 
 

This past year our redwood tree had an estimated 18-20 branch failures, twelve of these branches fell to the 
ground immediately while 8 others hung up in the tree. One of these branches was suspended over the 
sidewalk. After the March 13th branch failures I had Lewis Tree Service come out on an emergency call to 
clean up the fallen branches and remove the other 6-8 broken branches in the canopy at a cost of $700. It is 
important to remember that we had pruned and tipped the tree 6 years earlier to prevent branch failures. 
 
There is also agreement between the two tree experts that branch failures will be expected to 
continue; though, Mr. Allen qualifies this by saying only if proper pruning is not preformed. Unfortunately, 
this is where most agreement ends. Mr. Allen states that: 
 

Mr. Jani inaccurately states that this species is not native to the area and has outgrown the 
neighborhood. 

 
Mr. Jani knows the “natural” habitat of redwoods since he has worked 45 years with redwoods in Santa 
Cruz County, is chief forester over 440,000 acres of redwoods throughout the State and is on the California 
State Board of Forestry appointed by both Governors Brown and Newsom. It doesn’t take much research to 
find the native habitat of coastal redwoods and, in fact, it is well known that these redwoods have not 
populated the marine terrace habitat found in Capitola in recent years (perhaps for 10’s of millions; See 
maps (not included) of redwood habitat by Charles Sargent (1881), Madison Grant (1919); Griffin and 
Critchfield (1972)). It is important that coastal redwoods have not naturally populated the marine terrace 
in Capitola because it begs the question, Why not?  
 
It seems the reason why redwoods do not naturally occur in Capitola is that: 
 

Although many redwood stands are close to the sea, they do not seem to tolerate ocean winds 
or salts and so do not grow on exposed hillsides that face the ocean. 
(https://ucanr.edu/sites/forestry/California_forests/http___ucanrorg_sites_forestry_California_fore
sts_Tree_Identification_/Coast_Redwood_Sequoia_sempervirens_198/) 

  
The fact that our redwood was planted in an area that can support incredible growth has added to the 
problem of being exposed to strong coastal winds and salt that results in redwoods failing. 
 
Mr. Allen does not include in his letter the impact of past tree topping, pruning and the open canopy caused 
by six-seven branches breaking in the same area when assessing risk; though, he acknowledges that these 
issues increase risk of branch failures. Mr. Jani pointed out that each of these acts (topping done prior to 
our purchasing the house, pruning done by Lewis Tree Service and canopy opening by multiple branch 
failures in same location) creates a situation where branch failure can be expected to accelerate. Not one of 
these issues was dealt with by Mr. Allen specifically; thus, the real risks of branch failures caused by past 
practices and events that CANNOT be undone are completely ignored in Mr. Allen’s letter. (That is, how do 
you restore a 20 foot hole in the middle of a tree canopy that allows winds to accelerate and cause further 
branch failures?) 
 

5.C.4

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

A
p

p
ea

l L
et

te
r 

 (
16

00
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)

https://ucanr.edu/sites/forestry/California_forests/http___ucanrorg_sites_forestry_California_forests_Tree_Identification_/Coast_Redwood_Sequoia_sempervirens_198/)
https://ucanr.edu/sites/forestry/California_forests/http___ucanrorg_sites_forestry_California_forests_Tree_Identification_/Coast_Redwood_Sequoia_sempervirens_198/)
https://ucanr.edu/sites/forestry/California_forests/http___ucanrorg_sites_forestry_California_forests_Tree_Identification_/Coast_Redwood_Sequoia_sempervirens_198/)
https://ucanr.edu/sites/forestry/California_forests/http___ucanrorg_sites_forestry_California_forests_Tree_Identification_/Coast_Redwood_Sequoia_sempervirens_198/)


I paid Capitola $1,000 to have an assessment of the tree as a hazard based upon Mr. Jani’s identified issues; 
what I received was an incomplete assessment that did not: 

1. Assess the top of the tree and risk of these branches failing because of lack of structural foundation; 
2. Assess the open canopy and the risk of future branch failure caused by the wind increasing 

velocity/force due to tunneling effect; 
3. Assess the enhanced risk of branch failure caused by past pruning of important structural branches 

that has left the remaining branches with weakened points; and 
4. Determine past maintenance or conditions that resulted in branch failure. 

 
It is the above reasons that Mr. Jani concluded that our redwood tree has outgrown the neighborhood. Mr. 
Allen says Mr. Jani is wrong in this assertion but does nothing in his letter to indicate that these specific 
risks can be mitigated by branch shortening. 
 
Mr. Allen in his conclusion states: 
 

This tree is in a good state of vigor with long, weighted branches that are prone to continued breakage. The 
supporting roots and trunk appear solid and are not expected to fail in the foreseeable future, Branch 
failures that occurred during January and March of 2019 may have been triggered by atypical storm 
events with strong bursts of high velocity wind that increased the load on the large diameter, long 
branches. Wind load is a dynamic force imposed upon structural components by constantly changing 
pressure, direction and duration of wind events. 

  
It seems apparent to me that Mr. Allen did not fully read our letter submitted in the application to remove 
our redwood and was not allowed to communicate with us so that he understood the wind conditions. Our 
concluding paragraph provides the light wind condition on March 13, 2019 during a sunny and warm day. 
 
Mr. Allen’s assertion that these branches failed during “atypical” storm events is neither accurate or a fair 
representation of the events that resulted in five large branches (we have all agreed these are abnormally 
large branches) failed on March 13, 2019. Until someone can ascertain exactly why these five branches 
failed in light wind, there is no way of saying branch shortening will reduce future branch failings.  
 
It should also be noted that Mr. Allen’s examples of trees that have undergone branch reduction and not 
had branch failures are located 4-5 times further from  the ocean than our house, are protected by more 
structures and trees and will not receive the strong storm winds that our tree does on a coastal bluff. 
Further, these tree examples are not comparable in terms of size or history of branch failure in low winds. 
 
We started this process because after the March 13th event I believed that there was an emergency 
issue due to the number and size of branches that fell during a slight change in wind direction. The 
winds March 13 were not particularly strong; though, they brought down 5 large branches from this 
redwood tree onto my neighbor’s property and over the sidewalk. For everyone’s safety it is time to 
remove this tree that has outgrown the neighborhood in which it was planted. 
 
We feel that City staff accepted Mr. Allen’s letter because of the working relationship that they have with 
him. His letter does not refute any of Mr. Jani’s findings and, in fact, supports all of them with the exception 
of removing the tree for safety. The difference between Mr. Jani and Mr. Allen is that Mr. Jani feels that past 
topping, pruning and recent wind events that opened the canopy make the tree unsafe; therefore, decided 
the best and safest course forward to protect everyone was tree removal. Mr. Allen does not provide any 
evidence that the past events with the tree are NOT going to increase branch failure as indicated by Mr. 
Jani. He does believe that removal is unnecessary and that appropriate pruning can reduce branch failure 
to a “tolerable threshold”.  

5.C.4

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

A
p

p
ea

l L
et

te
r 

 (
16

00
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



 
Mr. Allen goes to great length to point out the difference in his certification and assumes that just because 
Mr. Jani is not an arborist that he cannot correctly assess risk with trees in which he is extremely 
knowledgeable. In addition, Mr. Allen states that proper maintenance will reduce risk to a tolerable level—
whose risk is at a tolerable level .Certainly not mine, my wife’s, our neighbors or those walking on the 
sidewalk under the tree. I can understand why a person that does not live by this tree, does not walk on the 
sidewalk under the overhanging branches, or does not have house mold related to organic matter (i.e., 
redwood tree roots) in the crawl space may seem comfortable with the proposed remedy. However, I think 
any prudent individual can also see that 30 foot long branches falling from a height of 30-80 feet in heavy 
or light winds may believe that a more acceptable solution is tree removal. 
 
It is critical to note that Mr. Allen, and all that deal with risk assessment, always put on a caveat that past 
results (branch shortening) may not predict future events (branches not falling) and nothing short of 
removal will reduce risk to zero. I find this language convenient, vague and, most likely, developed in 
response to legal action against arborists that assessed risk incorrectly. If Mr. Allen is so sure of his branch 
shortening strategy, will he accept liability after branch shortening if branches fail and harm individuals or 
property? Will Capitola accept liability for denying a second time the application to remove this tree? That 
is, will Mr. Allen provide analysis about branch shortening that asserts it will eliminate future branch 
failures without adding the caveat of tolerable risk and removal is the only remedy that ensures safety? 
Will Capitola create a policy that assumes risks of trees that they deny removal for safety reasons? 
 
If the answer to these questions is no, then I believe the risk tolerance reverts to the property owner. My 
wife and I are not willing to accept the level of risk that Mr. Allen apparently is. Our neighbors are friends 
and I would feel horrible if something happened to them, their dog or their property because we accepted a 
risk level of “tolerable” when Mr. Jani, who is extremely knowledgeable of redwoods, said to remove the 
tree for safety and liability reasons. 
 
Commissioners, I have stated our position, rationale, and level of risk tolerance. We ask that you over-ride 
the staff recommendation and permit us to remove the tree for safety reasons. I do not feel that I could find 
a person willing to accept the inherent risk and liability of this tree given its history of past failures. 
Further, it seems that everything that has been done to our redwood (i.e., topping that was wholly wrong 
but cannot be undone, past pruning that we thought would help, or the branch failures that opened up the 
canopy to future failures) has only hurt it. I do not have faith that shortening every branch, pruning every 
branch to reduce weight, and root undercutting to prevent mold in our house will change the direction of 
interventions; the tree will end up being worse off and more of a risk – not less. 
 
Thank you for your time, patience and deliberation. It is not easy for us to ask you to do this but the tree 
possesses risks to us, our neighbors and those walking beneath this redwood. You represent us as a check 
on government over-reach or inappropriate decisions and we hope that you will see that we do feel the 
responsibility and obligation of protecting our neighbors.  
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
Michael and Vickie Oliver 
1600 49th Ave. 
Capitola, Ca 95010 

5.C.4

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

60
0 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

A
p

p
ea

l L
et

te
r 

 (
16

00
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)


	Agenda Packet
	1. Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance
	2. Oral Communications
	A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda
	B. Public Comments
	C. Commission Comments
	D. Staff Comments

	3. Approval of Minutes
	A. Minutes of Sep 5, 2019 7:00 PM
	Printout: Minutes of Sep 5, 2019 7:00 PM


	4. Consent Calendar
	A. 523 Riverview Drive
	Printout: 523 Riverview Drive

	B. 4025 Brommer Street
	Printout: 4025 Brommer Street
	1. 4025 Brommer Street - Plan Set


	5. Public Hearings
	A. 1850 41st Avenue
	Printout: 1850 41st Avenue
	1. 1850 41st Avenue - Full Plan Set - 08.29.2019
	2. Apothecarium - CPD Post-Appeal Six Month Start Date Letter
	3. 1850 41st Avenue - Sign Details

	B. 4199 Clares Street
	Printout: 4199 Clares Street
	1. 4199 Clares Street - #19-0169 - Full Plan Set - 07.05.2019
	2. 4199 Clares Street - Condominium Plan - 09.26.2019
	3. 4199 Clares Street - Project Narrative
	4. 4199 Clares Street - Description of Provisions for Meeting Standards
	5. 4199 Clares Street - Building Report
	6. 4199 Clares Street - Preliminary HOA budget
	7. 4199 Clares Street - Property Report
	8. 4199 Clares Street - Pest Control Report
	9. 4199 Clares Street - SC County Sanitation - Sewer Availability
	10. 4199 Clares Street - SCWD Water Service Letter
	11. 4199 Clares Street - Central Fire Protection District - Service Confirmation

	C. 1600 49th Avenue
	Printout: 1600 49th Avenue
	1. 1600 49th Avenue - Resident Documentation
	2. 1600 49th Avenue - Forester Letter
	3. 1600 49th Avenue - Arborist Review
	4. 1600 49th Avenue - Appeal Letter


	6. Director's Report
	7. Commission Communications
	8. Adjournment

	Appendix
	3.A · Minutes of Sep 5, 2019 7:00 PM
	4.A · 523 Riverview Drive
	4.B · 4025 Brommer Street
	4.B.1 · 4025 Brommer Street - Plan Set

	5.A · 1850 41st Avenue
	5.A.1 · 1850 41st Avenue - Full Plan Set - 08.29.2019
	5.A.2 · Apothecarium - CPD Post-Appeal Six Month Start Date Letter
	5.A.3 · 1850 41st Avenue - Sign Details

	5.B · 4199 Clares Street
	5.B.1 · 4199 Clares Street - #19-0169 - Full Plan Set - 07.05.2019
	5.B.2 · 4199 Clares Street - Condominium Plan - 09.26.2019
	5.B.3 · 4199 Clares Street - Project Narrative
	5.B.4 · 4199 Clares Street - Description of Provisions for Meeting Standards
	5.B.5 · 4199 Clares Street - Building Report
	5.B.6 · 4199 Clares Street - Preliminary HOA budget
	5.B.7 · 4199 Clares Street - Property Report
	5.B.8 · 4199 Clares Street - Pest Control Report
	5.B.9 · 4199 Clares Street - SC County Sanitation - Sewer Availability
	5.B.10 · 4199 Clares Street - SCWD Water Service Letter
	5.B.11 · 4199 Clares Street - Central Fire Protection District - Service Confirmation

	5.C · 1600 49th Avenue
	5.C.1 · 1600 49th Avenue - Resident Documentation
	5.C.2 · 1600 49th Avenue - Forester Letter
	5.C.3 · 1600 49th Avenue - Arborist Review
	5.C.4 · 1600 49th Avenue - Appeal Letter



